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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Such
statements can generally be identified by words such as “anticipates”, “expects”, “intends”, “will”, “could”, “believes”, “estimates”,
“continue” and similar expressions. Forward-looking statements are based on certain assumptions, discuss future
expectations, describe future plans and strategies, contain financial and operating projections or state other
forward-looking information. Our ability to predict results or the actual effect of future events, actions, plans or
strategies is inherently uncertain. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking
statements are based on reasonable assumptions, our actual results and performance could differ materially from those
set forth in, or implied by, the forward-looking statements. Factors that could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations and prospects, as well as our ability to make distributions
to our shareholders are discussed more fully in the sections “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in this report, and include, but are not limited to:

•We have a limited operating history and therefore management cannot ensure the long-term successful operation of
our business or the execution of our business plan.

• We have a history of net operating losses, and we may never achieve profitability from operations.

•
Certain of our existing stockholders affiliated with Mr. Xiaofan Bai have substantial influence over our company, and
their interests may not be aligned with the interests of our other stockholders and sales of their shares could cause the
market price of our common stock to decrease.

•We have limited experience operating as a REIT, and we cannot assure you that we will be successful operating as a
REIT.

•We are dependent on our executive officers and dedicated personnel, and the departure of any of our key personnel
could materially and adversely affect us.

• If we cannot obtain equity and debt financing, our growth may be limited.

•Our underwriting criteria and evaluation of properties involves a number of assumptions that may prove inaccurate,
which may cause us to overpay for our properties or incur significant costs to operate a property.

• Operating our business on a larger scale could result in substantial increases in our expenses.
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•If rents in our markets do not increase sufficiently to keep pace with rising costs of operations, our cash available for
distribution will decline.

• Declining real estate values and impairment charges could adversely affect our earnings and financial condition.

•Our Board of Directors may change our investment strategy, financing strategy or leverage policies, or any of our
other major policies, without the consent of stockholders.

• Failure to qualify as a REIT could adversely affect our operations and our ability to make distributions.

• The availability and timing of our anticipated cash distributions are uncertain.

• An active trading market for our common stock may never develop.

•There may be limitations on the effectiveness of our internal controls, and a failure of our control systems to prevent
error or fraud may materially harm our company.

(ii)
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Market data used throughout this report is based on published third party reports or the good faith estimates of
management, which estimates are presumably based upon their review of internal surveys, independent industry
publications and other publicly available information. Although we believe that such sources are reliable, we do not
guarantee the accuracy or completeness of this information, and we have not independently verified such information.

We caution readers not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. We do not undertake, and
specifically disclaim any obligation, to update or revise such statements to reflect new circumstances or unanticipated
events as they occur, and we urge readers to review and consider disclosures we make in this and other reports that
discuss factors germane to our business. See in particular our reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q, and 8-K subsequently
filed from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

(iii)
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PART I

Item 1. Business

In this report, the terms “we,” “our,” “us” and “Company” refer to Reven Housing REIT, Inc., a Maryland
corporation, together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

Overview

We are an internally managed Maryland corporation that engages in the acquisition, ownership and operation of
portfolios of leased single-family homes in the United States. We operate our portfolio properties as single-family
rentals, or SFRs, and we generate most of our revenue from rental income from the existing tenants of the SFRs we
have acquired. We intend to elect and qualify to be taxed as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for federal income
tax purposes commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 2017.

As of December 31, 2017, we have invested an aggregate of approximately $60.4 million and own a total of 799
homes, of which 263 homes are in the Houston, Texas metropolitan area, 252 homes are in the Jacksonville, Florida
metropolitan area, 120 homes are in the Memphis, Tennessee metropolitan area (with two of the Memphis homes
located just across the border in Mississippi), 117 homes are in the Birmingham, Alabama metropolitan area, and 47
homes are in the Atlanta, Georgia metropolitan area. Subsequent to year end on February 16, 2018, we purchased 27
additional homes in the Birmingham, Alabama metropolitan area for approximately $1,659,000 plus closing and
acquisition costs.

We intend to expand our acquisitions to other select markets in the United States that fit our investment criteria as we
continue to evaluate new investment opportunities in different markets. As of December 31, 2017, our portfolio
properties were 91.2% occupied. Our portfolio properties have been acquired from available cash and with the
proceeds from secured loan transactions with regional banks pursuant to which we had an outstanding principal
amount owed of $31,005,586 as of December 31, 2017. Our loan transactions are secured by first priority liens and
related rents on our homes. Subsequent to year end we increased our borrowings secured by Birmingham homes by
$2,736,630.

Our principal objective is to generate cash flow and distribute resulting profits to our stockholders in the form of
distributions, while gaining home price appreciation, or HPA, at the same time through the ownership of our portfolio
properties. With this objective in mind, we have developed our primary business strategy of acquiring portfolios of
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stabilized or leased SFRs. We believe the execution of this strategy will allow us to generate immediate and steady
cash flow from the rental income from the SFRs that we acquire while potentially gaining significant HPA over time.
HPA is a metric most of our competitors use to project total returns. We believe cash flow is a better metric to project
returns because cash flow is realized currently while HPA is unrealized and deferred until the assets are sold. While
our goal is to grow our company and generate available cash flow from the rental income of our SFRs that will allow
us to pay all of our operating costs for the operation of our portfolio properties and distribute profits to our
stockholders in the form of quarterly dividends, there can be no assurance we will be able to do so.

Our History and Structure

In 2012, Chad M. Carpenter, our Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer, recognized an
opportunity to acquire portfolios of leased homes with positive cash flow and then distribute resulting profits to
stockholders. To capitalize on this opportunity, Mr. Carpenter acquired a majority of the issued and outstanding shares
of our common stock in July 2012 and founded Reven Housing REIT. Since then, we have been engaged in our
current business of acquiring, owning and operating portfolios of leased single-family homes as rental properties.

Our company was originally incorporated on April 26, 1995. On April 1, 2014, we converted from a Colorado
corporation to a Maryland corporation pursuant to applicable state conversion statutes to better position our company
to qualify and operate as a REIT. In connection with our conversion to a Maryland corporation, we adopted our
current charter and bylaws in accordance with the laws of the State of Maryland.

-4-
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Reven Housing REIT, Inc. serves as a holding company for our various operating subsidiaries through which we
conduct our acquisitions and hold our properties and applicable secured debt. These operating subsidiaries include
Reven Housing REIT OP, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership that is our wholly-owned operating partnership; Reven
Housing GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company that is our wholly-owned subsidiary and the sole general
partner of our operating partnership; Reven Housing REIT TRS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company that is the
wholly-owned subsidiary of our operating partnership and that we intend will elect to be treated as a taxable REIT
subsidiary; and the following Delaware limited companies each of which is wholly-owned by our operating
partnership: Reven Housing Georgia, LLC, Reven Housing Texas, LLC, Reven Housing Texas 2, LLC, Reven
Housing Florida, LLC, Reven Housing Tennessee, LLC, Reven Housing Florida 2, LLC, and Reven Housing
Alabama, LLC.

Development of Our Business

Since January 1, 2017, we have undertaken the following material transactions and general development of our
business:

Regional Bank Credit Facility - On January 31, 2017, we borrowed $5,020,000 from a regional bank pursuant to our
issuance of a promissory note secured by deeds of trust on certain of our homes located in the Houston, Texas
metropolitan area. Principal and accrued interest at a rate equal to four and one-half percent (4.50%) per annum are
payable in 60 consecutive monthly installments based on a 20-year amortization period until January 31, 2022, when
the entire amount of principal and interest remaining unpaid will be payable. Interest accrues and is payable monthly
on the loan at a rate equal to four and one-half percent (4.50%) per annum until maturity.

Atlanta, Georgia - On March 15, 2017, we closed on the acquisition of 38 single-family homes located in the Atlanta,
Georgia metropolitan area for the purchase price of approximately $2,700,000 including closing expenses and
acquisition costs.

Memphis, Tennessee – During March, April and June 2017, we closed on the acquisition of 26 single-family homes
located in the Memphis, Tennessee metropolitan area for the purchase price of approximately $2,090,000 including
closing expenses and acquisition costs.

Birmingham, Alabama - On April 19, 2017, we closed on the acquisition of 68 single-family homes located in the
Birmingham, Alabama metropolitan area for the purchase price of approximately $5,300,000 including closing
expenses and acquisition costs. An additional home was purchased in July 2017 for the purchase price of
approximately $77,000 under the same contract. On December 29, 2017 we acquired an additional 48 homes pursuant
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to a separate purchase contract for a purchase price of approximately $2,837,000 including closing and acquisitions
costs and net of repair credit allowances. Subsequent to year end on February 16, 2018, subject to another separate
contract, we acquired 27 additional homes in Birmingham for a purchase price of approximately $1,659,000.

Regional Bank Loan Modification - On April 4, 2017, we entered into loan modification agreements with a regional
bank on four notes in existence at December 31, 2016 whereby the interest rate on all four loans was modified from a
rate of 1% over the prime rate to a fixed rate of 4.5% per annum. Principal and interest payments will be made
monthly based on a 25- year amortization period with the remaining unpaid principal on all four loans due on April 5,
2020. The loans have a prepayment penalty of 2% during the first year and 1% during the following year on amounts
paid in excess of the scheduled amortization. The other terms remain generally unchanged. The loans are secured by
deeds of trust encumbering certain of our homes. The unpaid principal balance on these four loans was approximately
$19,391,000 at December 31, 2017.

Additional Borrowings- On August 1, 2017, we received loan proceeds and issued a promissory note in the principal
amount of $1,793,633 to a regional bank secured by our homes located in Georgia. Interest accrues at a fixed rate of
4.5% and monthly principal and interest payments will be made based on a 25-year amortization period with the
remaining unpaid principal due July 5, 2020.

On August 22, 2017, we received loan proceeds and issued a promissory note in the principal amount of $1,155,000 to
a regional bank secured by certain of our homes located in Tennessee. Interest accrues at a fixed rate of 4.5% and
monthly principal and interest payments will be made based on a 25-year amortization period with the remaining
unpaid principal due September 5, 2020.

-5-
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On December 29, 2017, we received loan proceeds and issued a promissory note in the principal amount of
$3,793,920 to a regional bank secured by certain of our homes located in Alabama. Interest accrues at a fixed rate of
4.25% and monthly principal and interest payments will be made based on a 20-year amortization period with the
remaining unpaid principal due January 5, 2023. Subsequent to year end, on February 16, 2018, we received
additional proceeds of $2,736,630 and the principal balance on this loan was increased to $6,530,550.

Hurricane Harvey and Hurricane Irma- During the quarter ended September 30, 2017, a significant number of our
properties in Houston and Jacksonville incurred storm related damages from Hurricane Harvey and Hurricane Irma.
We have estimated the extent of our asset impairments, damages and repairs to the properties to be approximately
$2.8 million and have reduced our carrying values of our homes by that amount. The above amounts include losses
relating to four of our homes that we determined were damaged beyond repair. We have estimated that approximately
$2.3 million of the damages will be reimbursed in accordance with our insurance policies. The remaining $500,000 of
repair costs represents amounts that will be paid from our available cash balances and are due to applicable deductible
costs and uninsured costs. This amount has been included in casualty losses, net in the statement of operations and has
been combined with the results from other casualty gains and losses not directly caused by the storm.

We have received approximately $950,000 for Hurricane Harvey and Hurricane Irma related damages from our
insurers as of December 31, 2017. The remaining $1.4 million expected to be recovered has been included in our other
assets as of year-end.

We are actively repairing our damaged homes in both Houston and Jacksonville and anticipate that all properties will
be restored to their original operating condition or better. As of December 31, 2017, the Company had spent
approximately $1.5 million in repairs relating to hurricane damages to its homes.

Our Competitive Advantages

We believe that our competitive advantages include the following:

Our Business Strategy

Our business strategy of acquiring already improved, stabilized and currently leased portfolios of single-family homes
and operating them as rental properties allows us to focus on generating positive cash flow and distributing the
resulting profits to our stockholders. Our business strategy differentiates us from most of our competitors because they
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are buying empty homes individually as opposed to purchasing rented homes in bulk or are focused on generating
home price appreciation. We believe our business strategy is efficient and cost effective because we do not need a
large staff or to incur significant overhead costs in order to grow and execute our business plan.

Internal Management

As an internally-managed REIT, our executives are dedicated to our business allowing us to maintain greater control
over the management and operation of our business than externally-managed REITs. Our management’s interests are
aligned with those of our stockholders and we are exposed to fewer conflicts of interest than those typically faced by
externally-managed REITs. Additionally, as our portfolio grows, we believe that we will achieve greater operational
efficiencies and realize superior economies of scale as compared to externally-managed companies.

Experienced Management Team

We believe the real estate and institutional investment experience of our management team will lead our company to
achieve our growth goals. Our management team is led by our founder, Chad M. Carpenter, our Chairman, President
and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Carpenter, along with Thad L. Meyer, our Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating
Officer and Secretary, are both experienced institutional real estate veterans, each with more than 25 years of
residential and commercial real estate experience in both public and private real estate companies. Along with
Michael P. Soni, our Senior Advisor of Investments, who also serves as our asset manager, our seasoned management
team has more than 55 years of collective commercial and residential real estate investment, leasing and operational
experience and has been involved in over $3.0 billion of real estate transactions. Members of our management team,
including their experiences prior to joining our company, have inspected over 3,000 single-family residences and
acquired approximately 800 single-family residences to rent or rehabilitate and sell in 12 states, including Arizona,
California, Florida, Georgia, Indiana, Michigan, Mississippi, New York, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Tennessee and Texas.
Our management team has established excellent relationships with brokers, sellers, institutional investors,
policymakers, lenders, and aggregators of residential assets and has a proven track record in acquiring, managing and
selling residential and commercial real estate.

-6-
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Disciplined Acquisition Strategy

We have developed a disciplined, efficient, and cost-effective process to acquire assets that meet or exceed our
conservative underwriting criteria, a thorough due diligence process and financial return requirements. We seek to
continue acquiring portfolios of occupied single-family homes in bulk from investors who acquired, rehabilitated and
rented them to qualified tenants and that have the potential for increased yield and appreciation. In addition, we
believe we can achieve greater economies of scale by focusing our acquisitions in select markets and communities
where there are established property management, general contractor and vendor relationships, and greater
concentration of assets.

Extensive Sourcing Network

Our management team has cultivated and developed a wide network of industry relationships over the years, which
we believe provides our company with a distinct competitive advantage to source a greater number of off-market
transactions. Through this network, we have been able to source attractive portfolio acquisitions, and we believe they
may provide us with additional attractive privately negotiated acquisition opportunities that in some cases may not be
available to other market participants. We believe that this can result in more favorable pricing for acquisitions than if
we were bidding on fully marketed deals. Our acquisitions team is in regular communication with sourcing contacts
and sends out frequent and regular emails to update our underwriting criteria and to account for changes in current
market and economic conditions. We provide agents and investors with specific acquisition criteria regarding the type
of dwelling, location, condition of property, and price points so that they can concentrate their efforts exclusively on
properties that meet our criteria. We maintain a database of potential sourcing contacts that is updated on a regular
basis.

Our Business and Growth Strategies

Our objective is to be a leader in the single-family rental business as an institutional-quality operator on a national
scale. Our focus is on cash flow and profitability while generating meaningful distributions from rental income and
the potential for capital appreciation. We believe we can achieve this objective through the following strategies:

Disciplined Investment Strategy and Institutional Platform
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We intend to grow by acquiring portfolios of single-family homes with cash flow in place in portfolios in select
markets throughout the United States where economic forecasts are favorable for our business. Such forecasts include
increasing rental rate growth and home price appreciation, increasing population migration and increasing job growth.
Other factors that are as important are decreasing unemployment rates, decreasing cap rates and vacancies. We have
strict investment criteria and detailed due diligence policies for each acquisition with formal investment committee
meetings for review and approvals which creates an institutional culture and platform.

Create a Diversified Stabilized Portfolio

We currently own leased portfolios in the Atlanta, Georgia, Houston, Texas, Jacksonville, Florida, Memphis,
Tennessee, and Birmingham, Alabama metropolitan areas and intend to expand into other select markets in the United
States that fit our strict investment criteria. These targeted markets include selected cities in Arizona, California,
Colorado, Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, Nevada, North Carolina, Oklahoma, Utah and Virginia. We believe that our
planned expansion into these markets will help us achieve a diversified portfolio.

-7-
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Keep a Low Cost and Efficient Overhead Structure

Our business strategy and platform allow us to maintain a lean, qualified team, keeping overhead costs down while
efficiently managing vendors on an outsourced basis through active oversight and reporting. Unlike many of our
competitors, we do not require nor maintain a large staff for acquisitions because we acquire investments through
purchases of portfolios, not individual homes. Similarly, because we target and acquire homes that are leased and are
otherwise in rent-ready condition, we do not require nor maintain a large staff for asset management or significant
resources for renovating the homes. Additionally, by outsourcing property management functions to qualified and
locally based property managers, we can focus our capital, resources and efforts that would otherwise be used to build
in-house property management on operations and growth.

Locally-Based Property Management

Property management is a critical part of our business, and we believe this important function is a low margin and
local business given the disparate nature of our assets and the unique characteristics of each home and the markets in
which they are located. We believe that keeping maintenance and other operating costs under strict control and
supervision is paramount to generating acceptable rental yields and maximizing the price appreciation of our assets.
As such, we outsource our property management functions to independent, qualified, locally based property
management teams who are experienced and familiar with the local markets in which they operate. We in turn manage
the outsourced property managers to operate within our policies, procedures and budgets. By outsourcing the property
management function of our business, our executives can better utilize their efforts, time and resources to focus on
acquisitions and asset management rather than building a low-margin in-house property management arm, which we
believe will allow us to achieve higher returns for our stockholders. We believe this is an efficient strategy for us at
this stage of our development and furthers our growth.

Reporting for Operations

We utilize currently available cloud-based management information systems that will enable comprehensive tracking,
management and control of all required functions within a cost-efficient and scalable environment as recommended by
our select outside property management professionals. We believe that these tools will facilitate effective and
cost-efficient management of disparate assets, scale our platform, and sustain operating margins as we continue to
grow. These systems will also enable management to comply with strict regulatory compliance and governance
requirements and will empower field personnel to respond autonomously within established corporate and budgetary
parameters.
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Our Business Activities and Operations

As of December 31, 2017, we have invested an aggregate of approximately $60.3 million and own a total of 799
homes, of which 263 homes are in the Houston, Texas metropolitan area, 252 homes are in the Jacksonville, Florida
metropolitan area, 120 homes are in the Memphis, Tennessee metropolitan area (with two of the Memphis homes
located just across the border in Mississippi), 117 homes are in the Birmingham, Alabama metropolitan area, and 47
homes are in the Atlanta, Georgia metropolitan area. Subsequent to year-end, on February 16, 2018 we purchased an
additional 27 homes in Birmingham for approximately $1,659,000.

-8-
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States in Which We Own Single-Family Homes
(as of December 31, 2017)

NOTE: States shaded as “Owned” are states in which we own homes. We only own two homes in Mississippi.

-9-
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The following table presents statistics of our single-family homes by Metropolitan Statistical Area, or MSA, and
metro division as of December 31, 2017.

Total Portfolio of Single-Family Homes — Summary Statistics
(as of December 31, 2017)

Market No. of
Homes

Aggregate
Investment

Average
Investment
per
Home

Properties
Leased

Properties
Vacant

Portfolio
Occupancy
Rate

Average
Age
(years)

Average
Size
(sq. ft.)

Average
Monthly
Rent

Average
Remaining
Lease
Term
(Months)

Atlanta,
Georgia 47 $3,423,069 $ 72,831 42 5 89.4 % 29 1,453 $ 909 4.7

Birmingham,
Alabama 117 8,191,836 70,016 107 10 91.5 % 53 1,290 838 4.0

Houston,
Texas 263 21,479,330 81,670 242 21 92.0 % 48 1,453 1,108 2.5

Jacksonville,
Florida 252 17,682,892 70,170 226 26 89.7 % 54 1,289 916 6.0

Memphis,
Tennesee 120 9,619,025 80,159 112 8 93.3 % 43 1,675 999 9.1

Totals 799 $60,396,152 $ 75,590 729 70 91.2 % 49 1,411 $ 980 4.9

Our Investment Process

Our investment strategy is to acquire portfolios of tenant-occupied houses with cash and/or limited partnership
interests of our operating partnership, or OP units, from investors who have accumulated homes and who are now
looking for an exit strategy. The evaluation and execution of our portfolio acquisitions are subject to the review and
approval by our investment committee, which operates under the oversight of our Board of Directors and is currently
comprised of Chad M. Carpenter, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Xiaofan (Fred) Bai, a member of our
Board of Directors, Xiahang (Jake) Bai, a member of our Board of Directors, Thad L. Meyer, our Chief Financial
Officer and Chief Operating Officer, and Michael P. Soni, our Senior Advisor of Investments. We have developed and
integrated the following proprietary processes in the implementation of our investment strategy.

Balanced Value Approach for Investing

Our acquisition strategy is based upon extensive research and utilizes a proprietary acquisitions algorithm that focuses
on acquiring a balance of portfolios of rented homes that have the potential for both increased yield and appreciation.
We invest in markets that demonstrate strong and/or improving economic performance which will support the
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potential for rent increases and home appreciation. When approaching a market, we focus on factors such as the
strength of rental demand, rates of job growth, population growth and unemployment. Within markets that meet our
investment criteria, we seek to identify the neighborhoods that offer the most attractive mix of rental demand and
rental rates, which are often characterized by good access to transportation networks and employment centers, good
schools and low levels of crime. We believe this “balanced value” approach towards investing will help our investments
achieve sustainable profitability at all times and through all cycles. This balanced value approach is intended to offer
stockholders diversification, distributions, appreciation, liquidity and a lower risk investment.

•
Types of houses. In terms of the structural or physical characteristics of the houses we acquire, we typically buy
single-family residences with at least three bedrooms and at least two bathrooms. Houses are built with a combination
of brick, stone, stucco, siding, and wood with updated windows and young to medium age roofs.

•
Market selection process. To gather market research we use a third-party services to analyze conditions in our target
residential U.S. markets, using such economic data as home values, employment growth, population growth, and thus
access real estate market risk in these areas. We focus on markets that have the following characteristics:

o Projected real estate appreciation over the next three years

o Projected job growth

o Lower current unemployment than the national average

-10-
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o Rising rents

o Stable and/or growing population with a minimum population of 500,000

o Stable and/or dropping vacancy rates

•

Target markets. We invest in markets that we believe have more upside value through the potential for rent increases
and appreciation of the homes due to the dislocation of perceived values of the real estate and current rental rates that
allow us to achieve higher than average rental yields and thus will also support higher than average future value
appreciation. We are currently targeting the following markets, which include new markets and existing markets for
further expansion:

Phoenix, AZ Atlanta, GA Memphis, TN
Tucson, AZ Chicago, IL Nashville, TN
Central California Indianapolis, IN Dallas, TX
Birmingham, AL Louisville, KY Fort Worth-Arlington, TX
Denver, CO Las Vegas, NV Houston, TX
Fort Lauderdale, FL Charlotte, NC Irving, TX
Jacksonville, FL Raleigh, NC San Antonio, TX
Miami, FL Virginia Beach, NC Salt Lake City, UT
Orlando, FL Oklahoma City, OK Richmond, VA
Tampa, FL Tulsa, OK

Using 3-year aggregate home value forecast from third party providers, we sort markets (as listed above) based on
projected growth. Those markets that have higher projected growth are perceived to be lower risk, and yield a lower
cap rate per class, than those markets that have lower or no growth projection over the next three years.

• Zip code analysis. Our properties are intended to appeal to the following tenant profile:

o Middle-income blue-collar/gray-collar/semi-professional individuals and families

o Incomes ranging from $25,000 to $50,000 per year

o Aged 30 years and above

o Preference for families to reduce turnover and related expenses
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Since we target only tenant-occupied properties, we focus on submarkets where we expect that the majority of tenants
will fit this profile. In the event that they do not, we will replace them with our targeted tenant profile on lease
renewal.

Our zip code analysis focuses on the following metrics:

o Average household income

o White collar jobs

o Average household size

o Total crime risk (including utilizing FBI statistics)

o Weather risk
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Sourcing and Evaluation of Assets for Acquisition

Our management executives and investment professionals maintain existing relationships and continually develop
new relationships in our network of contacts providing us access to potential portfolios of properties that meet our
investment criteria. We provide contacts in our sourcing network with our specific investment criteria regarding the
type of dwelling and specific home characteristics, location, condition of property, and price points so that efforts are
concentrated solely on the properties that are potentially viable for investment by us. We are in regular
communication with portfolio sourcing contacts and send out frequent and regular emails updating investment criteria
to adapt to changes due to market fluctuations or other factors affecting our acquisitions model. All contacts and
communications with them are logged in a central database to ensure we have current and correct sourcing
information as we continually build and maintain our sourcing network. We believe the vast majority of SFR
portfolios are available on an off-market basis due to the fragmentation of the SFR income-producing asset market,
lack of institutional and other large buyers, and the local vs. national nature of the assets.

•Sources of deal flow.  We source potential SFR portfolios from a variety of sources in our network to optimize deal
flow of our target assets, which sources include:

o Residential brokers specializing in income-producing properties

o Loopnet — online database of properties and brokers

o Trulia — online database of properties and brokers

o Existing SFR funds attempting to liquidate holdings and/or realize profits on flips

oProperty Wholesalers — groups that acquire damaged homes and/or foreclosed homes in order to rehabilitate, rent,
flip, and manage

o Fannie Mae/Freddie Mac for tenant-occupied portfolios available for bid

o SFR conferences

o Existing contacts
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o Homebuilders

•

Building a network. Our executives maintain existing relationships with a wide variety of relevant contacts that will
allow access for many potential portfolios of properties. In addition, these agents, investors and other contacts are
supplied with our specific investment criteria regarding type of dwelling and specific home characteristics, location,
condition of property, and price points so that efforts are concentrated solely on the properties that are potentially
viable for investment by us.

•

Managing the network. We are in continuous communication with portfolio sourcing contacts and send out frequent
and regular emails updating investment criteria when there are changes due to market fluctuations or other factors
affecting our acquisitions model. All contacts are logged in our proprietary contact database to ensure we have correct
contact information. Further, each contact receives their own email file and all communications are filed appropriately
in order to keep records of all conversations.

•

Initial informational requirement. All sourcing contacts in our network are requested to provide us with the following
information for each house to ensure that we can quickly and productively qualify a portfolio for acquisition: market,
address, zip code, type (SFR or town homes), rent, actual taxes, insurance, year built, square footage, # of bedrooms,
# of bathrooms, asking price, lease expiry, Section 8/non-Section 8, and one exterior picture of the house. Based on
the foregoing information we are able to verify whether the portfolio is in one of our target markets, assign housing
classes based on year built, beds, baths, and pictures, sum actual tax and insurance expenses, and determine average
rent for the portfolio. We can also determine from the above information the duration for current leases.
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Once a portfolio has been identified as appropriate for acquisition based on our investment criteria it is subjected to a
rigorous evaluation process. This process includes a multi-tiered investment committee process ranging from
pre-committee to final committee meetings. This process will ensure that all members of the investment committee
agree with the findings from the due diligence period and that the portfolio in question is an appropriate investment
for the company and its stockholders. The due diligence process includes case scenario financial modeling and
sensitivity analysis, zip-code and neighborhood analysis, physical inspections by qualified engineers, broker price
opinion “BPO” analysis to verify valuations are consistent with the purchase price, title and legal review, and finally
property manager vetting and qualification.

Acquisition and Underwriting

We have developed a disciplined, efficient, and cost-effective process to acquire assets that meet or exceed our
conservative underwriting criteria, a thorough due diligence process and financial return requirements. We acquire
properties via portfolio purchases or in bulk sourced from our network discussed above. Once we have qualified
potential portfolios for purchase based on our acquisition criteria, we proceed with discussions with the seller in
negotiating and executing a letter of intent setting forth the general terms for the purchase. Once we have the letter of
intent executed from the seller, we prepare documentation for review by our investment committee, including
members of our executive management, where the entire initial underwriting is reviewed for approval. If and when
approved, then we commence negotiation of the purchase contract with the seller and commence due diligence. Our
acquisitions team continuously audits our underwriting assumptions, establishes property-specific business plans and
tours and inspects each property before closing.

•

Professional BPO and valuation verification. During the preliminary underwriting phase we use Zillow and CMA
analysis to arrive at valuations for market value. In addition, we utilize professional real estate firms to provide us
with broker price opinions, or BPO, for valuations for each house. Each BPO is completed in a manner to ensure
confidence in investment and pricing decisions. Two levels of technology-driven checks are used — data validation and
a quality control rules engine — to identify duplicates and bring data together helping valuation professionals make
accurate decisions. Each BPO is reviewed by staff analysts prior to delivery. This provides a final check against our
valuation assumptions. We will only commence legal review of title and inspections if the valuation based on the
BPOs are more than the total purchase price, otherwise we will endeavor to renegotiate the purchase price prior to
incurring further due diligence costs.

•

Physical inspection and quality control. Once the professional BPOs have been received, and our existing valuation
assumptions are proven correct, we utilize third-party professional engineers to conduct physical inspections of each
house. The engineers provide us with reports based on the results of their inspections. These reports primarily focus
on the following elements: site and pavements; structure; building envelope; mechanical, electrical and plumbing, or
MEP; life safety; and interior. The reports also provide commentary regarding the tenant and the neighborhood.

•
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Purchase and sale contract renegotiation. Once the inspection period has ended and all of the diligence has been
reviewed, including title and legal review, if certain aspects of the contract require further attention, we will then
renegotiate those aspects of the contract. These items may include valuation problems that require a price deduction,
unexpected deferred maintenance that must be deducted from the price, or dropping properties due to quality or other
issues.

•Closing. Within 30 days of the end of the inspection period we will close on the transaction. All rents will be
pro-rated, tenant leases converted, service contracts cancelled, and deposits and keys delivered.

Proactive Asset Management

Each time we acquire a portfolio of assets, we prepare portfolio specific budgets that provides clear instructions to,
and parameters for, our asset management personnel. Michael P. Soni, our Senior Advisor of Investments, currently
serves as our asset manager. We expect to hire additional asset managers and other asset management personnel as we
continue to expand our operations. The asset management team’s primary responsibility will be to execute and adhere
to these budgets. Our asset managers will utilize our property managers’ offices as required for meetings that will limit
the need for regional offices and related expenses. Our asset managers will proactively manage the property managers
to reduce expenses and implement customer retention plans to keep our tenants in place for longer periods to reduce
turns, vacancy, releasing costs and increase stockholder returns. We also intend to hire third-party tax advisors to
review and, if appropriate, appeal property tax bills every year to effectively manage our property tax expense.
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The principal responsibilities of our asset management personnel will include:

•
Managing the budget for each asset and portfolios of assets. These budgets include occupancy goals, rent escalation
objectives, asset improvements, leasing plans, return expectations, and recommendations as to which property
management company to contract.

•

Managing the property managers. Asset managers will be responsible for training and managing the property
managers. Asset managers hold weekly calls with the property managers to review leasing, collections, and repair
expenditures. Asset managers will meet with each property manager to deliver and review the portfolios’ budgets to
ensure that all parties who are involved in that portfolio understand our investment objectives and goals.

•

Leasing. Asset managers will monitor occupancy for each portfolio on a weekly basis. Asset managers will be tasked
to keep their respective portfolios leased at all times and ensure that tenants’ leases are being renewed prior to
expiration. Asset managers will ensure that property managers maintain homes in rent-ready condition and begin the
search for prospective tenants once tenants vacate a property. Leasing policies outline the leasing terms under which
leases can be approved.

•
Rent collection. Asset managers will monitor accounts receivable for each portfolio. In the event that tenants miss rent
deadlines, the asset managers will follow up with the property managers to ensure that they have contacted the tenants
to expedite the resolution of any issues.

•

Reporting. Asset managers will review property management reports for each portfolio on a monthly basis and
prepare monthly asset management reports. Asset managers will use property management reports to ensure that the
property managers adhere to the portfolio’s budget and provide recommendations that add value to the asset or
portfolio. Asset managers will monitor occupancy, rent collection, expenses, insurance, maintenance and other cap-ex
closely and will ensure that property managers take all necessary steps to keep budgets on track. Asset managers will
meet quarterly with senior management to review the performance of each portfolio.

•

Disposition. Asset managers will review and consider all purchase offers we receive on any asset in our portfolio and
then in turn provide the terms of the offer and their evaluation to senior management. In evaluating whether to sell
any such asset, we will consider, among other things, tax considerations in respect of our qualification and compliance
as a REIT, the capital appreciation of the asset, and the gain from the disposition. In the event proposed offers and
dispositions are approved by us, our asset managers will sell houses through a listing process with instructions that are
previously approved by us.

Property Management
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We generally outsource our property management function to the existing property managers that are in place when
we acquire a portfolio of assets. All of our properties are managed by third-party property managers, with the same
property manager managing all of the properties that are located within the same metropolitan area. In obtaining these
services, we first determine that these property managers can provide the services we need and operate under our
oversight and within the budget developed specifically for that portfolio. Our property managers provide services to us
pursuant to management agreements that provide for one-year terms and are mutually terminable with 30 days’ prior
notice. For their services, we pay our property managers management fees ranging from 7 – 8% of gross rental receipts
from the properties they manage plus leasing fees for renewing tenants and new tenants, as well as 50% of any late
fees assessed on the tenants. Property managers assist us in executing the budgets we have developed for each
portfolio they manage.
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The principal responsibilities of our property managers include:

•

Leasing. Property managers monitor occupancy for each portfolio on a daily basis. Property managers are tasked to
keep their respective portfolios leased at all times and will ensure that tenants’ leases are being renewed prior to
expiration. Property managers will ensure that the homes they manage are maintained in rent-ready condition if
vacated. Property managers serve as our local leasing agents if they are qualified and have a proven track record.
Additionally, property managers are instructed to use their best efforts to encourage tenants to renew leases with
annual rental increases. If the situation warrants we will approve and provide certain incentives such as free rent or
minor improvements in an effort to encourage tenants to enter into leases more quickly and to enter into leases with
longer lease terms.

•
Tenant retention. We regularly work with the property managers in implementing tenant retention programs. We
believe that satisfied tenants will be more inclined to sign long-term leases and will provide a higher level of care for
the property.

•

Rent collection. Property managers monitor accounts receivable for each portfolio on a daily basis. Property managers
are instructed to contact tenants and collect late charges quickly if tenants do not make their payments on time.
Property managers are tasked to expedite the resolution of any issues and will be able to provide certain tenants with
payment options upon approval from asset management. Property managers are instructed to evict tenants, if
necessary, in a socially responsible and ethical process that is adapted and appropriate for each market.

•

Regular home inspections. Property managers are required to perform drive-by inspections of all properties they
manage and perform interior inspections every six months to ensure all homes are being well maintained by the
tenants in order to avoid any serious and costly issues. Property managers document all interior inspections and
submit photographs and focus on the property’s structure, foundation, roof, plumbing, furnace, water heaters, air
conditioners, mechanical systems and appliances.

•
Reporting. Property managers prepare property management reports for each portfolio of assets that they manage to
provide to the asset manager on a monthly basis. These reports focus on occupancy, rent collection, actual expenses
incurred vs. budget, and cap-ex requirements/budgets.

•

Managing the tenant and vendor relationships. Property managers manage the tenant and vendor relationships for our
company. We strive to ensure that each property manager adheres to our professional values, ethics, conduct and
decorum when interacting with tenants and vendors on our behalf. We are committed to responsibility and
responsiveness in providing landlord services to our tenants and endeavor to create and maintain positive relationships
with our tenants and service providers.

•Maintenance calls. Property managers field all maintenance calls. Property managers are empowered to hire vendors
to address issues and are tasked to keep repair and/or maintenance costs within predefined and approved budgets. For
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items and actions that fall outside pre-approved expenditures, property managers are required to discuss with asset
management to determine and take the appropriate action. Property managers are also required to respond to
emergency calls.

Management Information Systems and Technology

We utilize currently available cloud-based management information systems that enable comprehensive tracking,
management and control of all required functions within a cost-efficient and scalable environment as recommended by
our select outside property management professionals. We believe that these tools facilitate effective and cost-efficient
management of disparate assets, scale its platform, and sustain operating margins as we continue to grow. These
systems enable management to comply with strict regulatory compliance and governance requirements and empower
field personnel to respond autonomously within established corporate and budgetary parameters. Corporate email and
business productivity tools are deployed under SaaS (software-as-a-service) licensing arrangements to eliminate
hardware and maintenance costs while improving performance and reliability.

Competition

We face competition from many entities engaged in real estate investment activities, including individuals, other real
estate investment companies, including newly formed REITs, and real estate limited partnerships. Our competitors
may enjoy significant competitive advantages that result from, among other things, having substantially more
available capital, a lower cost of capital and enhanced operating efficiencies. Further, the market for the rental of
properties is highly competitive. We also face competition from new home builders, investors and speculators, as well
as homeowners renting their properties.
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Risk Management

We face various forms of risk in our business ranging from broad economic, housing market and interest rate risks, to
more specific factors, such as credit risk related to our tenants, re-leasing of properties and competition for properties.
We believe that the systems and processes developed by our experienced executive team since commencing our real
estate investment operations in July 2012 will allow us to monitor, manage and ultimately navigate these risks.

Insurance

We maintain property and liability insurance coverage related to our SFR properties, and workers’ compensation
coverage for our employees. We believe the policy specifications and insured limits under our insurance program are
appropriate and adequate for our business and properties given the relative risk of loss, the cost of the coverage and
industry practice. However, our insurance coverage is subject to substantial deductibles and carve outs, and we will be
self-insured up to the amount of such deductibles and carve outs.

Regulation

General

Our properties are subject to various covenants, laws and ordinances and certain of our properties are also subject to
the rules of the various HOAs where such properties are located. We believe that we are in compliance with such
covenants, laws, ordinances and rules, and we also require that our tenants agree to comply with such covenants, laws,
ordinances and rules in their leases with us.

Fair Housing Act

The Fair Housing Act, or FHA, its state law counterparts and the regulations promulgated by HUD and various state
agencies, prohibit discrimination in housing on the basis of race or color, national origin, religion, sex, familial status
(including children under the age of 18 living with parents or legal custodians, pregnant women and people securing
custody of children under the age of 18), handicap or, in some states, financial capability. We believe that our
properties are in substantial compliance with the FHA and other regulations.
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Environmental Matters

As a current or prior owner of real estate, we are subject to various federal, state and local environmental laws,
regulations and ordinances, and we could be liable to third parties as a result of environmental contamination or
noncompliance at our properties, even if we no longer own such properties. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to the
Real Estate Industry Generally — Contingent or unknown liabilities could adversely affect our financial condition.”

REIT Qualification

We intend to elect to qualify as a REIT commencing with our taxable year ending December 31, 2017. Our
qualification as a REIT depends upon our ability to meet on a continuing basis, through actual investment and
operating results, various complex requirements under the Code relating to, among other things, the percentage of
income that we earn from specified sources, the percentage of our assets that fall within specified categories, the
diversity of our capital stock ownership, and the percentage of our earnings that we distribute. We believe that we
have been organized in conformity with the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT under the Code, and
that our intended manner of operation will enable us to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT.
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So long as we qualify as a REIT, we generally will not be subject to federal income tax on our REIT taxable income
that we distribute currently to our stockholders. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year and do not qualify
for certain statutory relief provisions, we will be subject to federal income tax at regular corporate rates and may be
precluded from qualifying as a REIT for the subsequent four taxable years following the year during which we fail to
qualify as a REIT. Even if we qualify as a REIT, we may be subject to certain federal, state and local taxes on our
income or property.

Investment Company Act of 1940

We intend to conduct our operations so that neither we nor any of our subsidiaries are required to register as an
investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or the 1940 Act.

Employees

As of December 31, 2017, we had three full-time employees. Additionally, Michael P. Soni, our Senior Advisor of
Acquisitions and our asset manager, provides full-time services to us on a consultancy basis.

Available Information

Our website is located at www.revenhousingreit.com. The information on or accessible through our website is not part
of this annual report on Form 10-K. A copy of this annual report on Form 10-K is located at the SEC’s Public
Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference
Room can be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains an internet site that contains
reports and other information regarding our filings at www.sec.gov.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

We have a limited operating history and therefore we cannot ensure, either in the near- or long-term, that we will
be able to generate cash flow or profit or execute our business plan. We commenced our current business operations
in July 2012. As a result, our company has a limited operating history upon which you may evaluate our business and
prospects and an investment in our common stock may entail significantly more risk than the securities of a company
with a substantial operating history. Our business operations are subject to numerous risks, uncertainties, expenses and
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difficulties associated with early stage enterprises. You should consider an investment in our company in light of these
risks, uncertainties, expenses and difficulties. Such risks include:

• the absence of a lengthy operating history;

• insufficient capital to fully realize our operating plan;

• our ability to anticipate and adapt to a developing market;

• a competitive environment characterized by well-capitalized competitors;

• our ability to identify, attract and retain qualified personnel;

• our reliance on key management personnel;

• our ability to qualify and thereafter continually operate as a REIT;

• our ability to operate as a NASDAQ-listed public company; and

• our ability to identify and complete future acquisitions of single-family homes that meet our acquisition criteria.
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Because we are subject to these risks, evaluating our business may be difficult. We may be unable to successfully
overcome these risks, which could harm our business and prospects. Our business strategy may be unsuccessful and
we may be unable to address the risks we face in a cost-effective manner, if at all. If we are unable to successfully
address these risks, there may be an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash
flows.

We have a history of net operating losses, and we may never achieve profitability from operations or generate
sufficient cash flows to make or sustain distributions to our shareholders. We have a history of net operating losses.
For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, we had a net loss of $1,833,303 and $1,772,354, respectively. We
may never achieve profitability from operations. Even if we do achieve profitability, we cannot assure you that we
will be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis in the future. There can be no assurance
that future operations will be profitable or that we will be able to make or sustain distributions to our shareholders
from cash from operations. Revenues and profits, if any, will depend upon various factors, including whether we will
be able to successfully implement our acquisition strategy. We may not achieve our business objectives and the failure
to achieve such goals would have an adverse impact on us. In addition, an inability to achieve profitability could have
a detrimental effect on the long-term capital appreciation of our common stock.

We are an early entrant in an emerging industry, and the long-term viability of our business strategy on an
institutional scale is unproven. Large-scale institutional investment in single-family residential homes as investment
properties for rent is a relatively recent phenomenon that has emerged out of the mortgage and housing crisis that
began in late 2007. Previously, single-family homes were generally not viewed as a viable asset for investment on a
large scale by institutional investors. Consequently, the long-term viability of single-family residential investment
strategies at an institutional scale has not yet been proven. As an early entrant in this emerging industry, we are
subject to the risk that single-family rental homes may not prove to be a viable long-term business strategy for a
permanent capital vehicle at an institutional scale. If it turns out that our strategy is not a viable long-term business
strategy at an institutional scale, we may not be able to generate meaningful cash flows, which would materially and
adversely affect the viability of our business and stock price.

We have limited experience operating as a REIT, and we cannot assure you that we will be successful operating as
a REIT. We have limited operating history as a REIT. Our Board of Directors and executive officers will have overall
responsibility for the management of our company. While certain of our officers and directors have extensive
experience in real estate marketing, development, management, and finance, they had not previously engaged in
operating a business in accordance with the requirements of the Code for achieving and maintaining qualification as a
REIT prior to joining us. We cannot assure you that the past experience of our Board of Directors and executive
officers will be sufficient to successfully operate our company as a REIT. Our failure to qualify and maintain REIT
status would have an adverse effect on the cash available for distribution to our stockholders, as well as our business,
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
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We have many competitors and may not be able to adequately compete in the SFR market. Institutional investors
have begun acquiring single-family homes on a large scale. Traditionally, foreclosed properties and loans secured by
properties in pre-foreclosure were sold individually to private home buyers and small-scale investors. The sale of
these assets in portfolios and the entry into this market of large, well-capitalized institutional investors are relatively
recent trends, which we expect to intensify in the near future. Other REITs and investment funds have recently
deployed, or are expected to deploy in the near future, significant amounts of capital in the single-family housing
sector and may have investment objectives that overlap with ours. In acquiring our target assets, we will compete with
a variety of well-capitalized real estate investors, including pension funds, individual home buyers, banks, insurance
companies, public and private real estate investors, such as REITs, real estate limited partnerships and other entities
engaged in real estate investment activities. We also face competition from new home builders, investors and
speculators, as well as homeowners renting their properties. Most of our competitors are larger and have greater
financial, technical, leasing, marketing and other resources than we do. Some competitors may enjoy significant
competitive advantages that result from, among other things, having substantially more available capital, having a
lower cost of capital and enhanced operating efficiencies.

Our long-term growth will depend significantly upon future acquisitions of single-family homes that meet our
acquisition criteria. The acquisition of single-family homes (which is the central element of our growth strategy)
entails various risks, including the risks that we may overvalue a home or portfolio of homes, our homes may not
perform as we expect, our tenants may default and our cost estimates for restoring an acquired home may prove
inaccurate, and we may be unable to quickly and efficiently renew leases of our acquired homes upon their expiration.
If any of these should occur, it may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows. In addition, we cannot assure you of the continued availability of acquisition opportunities
in our markets at attractive pricing levels. If such opportunities are not available, our revenue and growth potential
may be adversely affected.
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Our single-family homes may be unable to compete successfully for tenants. Our single-family homes compete for
tenants with other single-family homes and multi-family housing options, such as apartments and condominiums.
Some of our competitors may offer more attractive properties or lower rents than we do, and they may attract the
high-quality tenants to whom we seek to lease our properties. Additionally, some competing housing options may
qualify for governmental subsidies that may make such options more affordable and therefore more attractive than our
properties. Competition for tenants could reduce our occupancy and rental rates and adversely affect our business,
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

We intend to rapidly expand our scale of operations and make acquisitions even if the rental and housing markets
are not as favorable as they had been in 2012 when we first began our real estate operations, which could adversely
impact anticipated yields. Our long-term growth depends on the availability of acquisition opportunities in our current
markets and other markets at attractive pricing levels. In many markets housing prices have already begun returning to
more normalized levels from the low prices we saw in recent years due to the downturn in the housing market, and we
expect that in the future housing prices will continue to rise or stabilize at its current levels, and therefore future
acquisitions may be more costly and result in lower yields. There are many factors that may result in future
acquisitions becoming more expensive and possibly less attractive than recent past and present opportunities,
including:

• improvements in the overall economy and job market;

• a resumption of consumer lending activity and greater availability of consumer credit;

• improvements in the pricing and terms of mortgage-backed securities;

•increasing competition for single-family assets from private investors, entities with similar investment objectives to
ours and owner-occupants; and

• tax or other government incentives that encourage homeownership.

We will continue acquiring properties as long as we believe such properties offer an attractive total return opportunity.
Accordingly, future acquisitions may have lower yield characteristics than recent past and present opportunities, and if
such future acquisitions are funded through equity issuances, the yield and cash available for distribution per share
will be reduced and the market price of our common stock may decline.

Our limited asset class and geographic diversification increases the risk of loss. Our portfolio is not fully diversified
into a wide variety of properties or holdings. All of our real estate assets are of a single asset class (namely SFRs) and
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are currently located in the following markets: the Atlanta, Georgia, metropolitan area; the Houston, Texas,
metropolitan area; the Jacksonville, Florida, metropolitan area; the Memphis, Tennessee, metropolitan area; and the
Birmingham, Alabama, metropolitan area. Accordingly, any adverse effects on the SFR sector specifically or the real
estate industry in general or limited to such geographic markets, may have a disproportionate negative effect on our
company and the value of our common stock. Additionally, we do not have geographic or product diversification or
concentration as an investment objective. As a result, we could have (i) exposure to a limited number of regional and
even local markets; and/or (ii) a limited number of real estate-related investments. The aggregate yields generated by
our company may be negatively affected by adverse regional or local economic conditions in these geographic
markets.

We are dependent on our executive officers and dedicated personnel, and the departure of any of our key personnel
could materially and adversely affect us. We rely on a small number of persons to carry out our business and
investment strategies. Any member of our senior management may cease to provide services to us at any time. The
loss of the services of any of our key management personnel, or our inability to recruit and retain qualified personnel
in the future, could have an adverse effect on our business and financial results. As we expand, we will continue to
need to attract and retain qualified additional senior management but may not be able to do so on acceptable terms or
at all.
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Our success depends, in part, upon our ability to hire and retain highly skilled managerial, investment and
operational personnel, and the past performance of our senior management may not be indicative of future results.
The implementation of our business plan may require that we employ additional qualified personnel. Competition for
highly skilled managerial, investment, financial and operational personnel is intense, and we cannot assure our
stockholders that we will be successful in attracting and retaining such skilled personnel. If we are unable to hire and
retain qualified personnel as required, our growth and operating results could be adversely affected.

Our dependence upon local, third-party service providers may harm our financial results or reputation if the third
parties fail to perform. We use local, third-party vendors and service providers to provide certain services for our
properties. For example, we regularly rely on third-party property management companies, home improvement
professionals and leasing agents to provide services to many of our properties. Selecting, managing and supervising
these third-party service providers require significant resources and expertise. We do not have exclusive or long-term
contractual relationships with any of these third-party providers, and we can provide no assurance that we will have
uninterrupted or unlimited access to their services. If we do not select, manage and supervise appropriate third parties
to provide these services, our reputation and financial results may suffer. Notwithstanding our efforts to implement
and enforce strong policies and practices regarding service providers, we may not successfully detect and prevent
fraud, incompetence or theft by our third-party service providers. In addition, any removal or termination of
third-party service providers would require us to seek new vendors or providers, which would create delays and
adversely affect our operations. Poor performance by third-party service providers will reflect poorly on us and could
significantly damage our reputation among desirable tenants. In the event of fraud or misconduct by a third party, we
could also be exposed to material liability and be held responsible for damages, fines and/or penalties.

Short-term leases of residential property may expose us to the effects of declining market rents. We anticipate that a
majority of our leases to tenant-occupants will be for a term of one year. As these leases permit the tenants to leave at
the end of the lease term without penalty, we anticipate our rental revenues may be affected by declines in market
rents more quickly than if our leases were for longer terms. Short-term leases may result in high turnover, which
involves costs such as restoring the properties, marketing costs and lower occupancy levels. Because we have a
limited operating history, our tenant turnover rate and related cost estimates may be less accurate than if we had more
operating data upon which to base these estimates.

We depend on the accuracy and completeness of information from third parties, and inaccuracies in such
information could adversely affect profitability. In connection with making and managing our investments, we rely
heavily upon information supplied by third parties, including the information contained in tenant applications,
property appraisals or other indicators of property value, title information and employment and income
documentation. If any of this information is intentionally or negligently misrepresented and the misrepresentation is
not detected prior to making an investment or execution of a lease, the value of the investment may be significantly
less than expected. Whether a misrepresentation is made by seller of a property, the rental applicant, another third
party or one of our own employees, we generally bear the risk of loss associated with the misrepresentation. Although
we may have rights against persons and entities who made or knew or should have known about the
misrepresentation, it will likely be difficult to recover any monetary losses that we have suffered as a result of their
actions.
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We may be unable to secure funds for future tenant or other capital improvements, which could limit our ability to
attract or replace tenants. When tenants do not renew their leases or otherwise vacate their space, we often are
required to expend funds for property restoration and leasing commissions in order to re-lease the property. If we have
not established sufficient reserves for such expenditures, we will have to obtain financing from other sources. We may
also have future financing needs for other capital improvements to restore our properties. If we need to secure
financing for capital improvements in the future but are unable to secure such financing or are unable to secure
financing on terms we feel are acceptable, we may be unable to make capital improvements or we may be required to
defer such improvements. If this happens, it may cause our properties to suffer from a greater risk of obsolescence or a
decline in value, or a greater risk of decreased cash flow as a result of fewer potential tenants being attracted to the
property or existing tenants not renewing their leases. If we do not have access to sufficient funding in the future, we
may not be able to make necessary capital improvements to our properties, and our properties’ ability to generate
revenue may be significantly impaired.
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Our revenue and expenses are not directly correlated, and, because a large percentage of our costs and expenses
are fixed and some variable expenses may not decrease over time, we may not be able to adapt our cost structure to
offset any declines in our revenue. Many of the expenses associated with our business, such as acquisition costs,
restoration and maintenance costs, homeowner’s association, or HOA, fees, personal and real property taxes, insurance,
compensation and other general expenses are fixed and would not necessarily decrease proportionally with any
decrease in revenue. Our assets also require a significant amount of ongoing capital expenditure. Our expenses,
including capital expenditures, will be affected by, among other things, any inflationary increases, and cost increases
may exceed the rate of inflation in any given period. Certain expenses incurred on a per-unit basis are recurring in
nature, such as HOA fees, taxes, insurance and restoration and maintenance costs, which may not decrease on a
per-unit basis as our portfolio grows through additional property acquisitions. By contrast, our revenue is affected by
many factors beyond our control, such as the availability and price of alternative rental housing and economic
conditions in our markets. As a result, we may not be able to fully, or partially, offset any increase in our expenses
with a corresponding increase in our revenues. In addition, state and local regulations may require us to maintain our
properties, even if the cost of maintenance is greater than the value of the property or any potential benefit we may
receive from renting the property.

If we cannot obtain financing, our growth may be limited. To qualify as a REIT, we will be required to distribute at
least 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding any
net capital gain, each year to our stockholders. As a result, our ability to retain earnings to fund acquisitions or other
capital expenditures will be limited. As of December 31, 2017, our assets were purchased with available cash and the
proceeds from loan transactions with regional banks pursuant to which we owe an aggregate of $31,005,586 as of
December 31, 2017. Our loan transactions are secured by first priority liens and related rents on our homes. Over time,
we may determine that it is appropriate to increase our use of leverage as a component of our financing strategy in an
effort to increase our return potential. We can provide no assurance that we will be able to obtain future debt financing
on favorable terms or at all.

Recent events in the financial markets have had an adverse impact on the credit markets, and, as a result, credit has
become significantly more expensive and difficult to obtain, if available at all. Some lenders are imposing more
stringent credit terms and there has been and may continue to be a general reduction in the amount of credit available.
Many banks are either unable or unwilling to provide new asset-based lending. Tightening credit markets may have an
adverse effect on our ability to obtain financing on favorable terms, thereby increasing financing costs and/or
requiring us to accept financing with increasing restrictions. If adverse conditions in the credit markets — in particular
with respect to single-family home finance — materially deteriorate, our business could be materially and adversely
affected. Our long-term ability to grow through additional investments will be limited if we cannot obtain additional
financing. Market conditions may make it difficult to obtain financing, and we cannot assure you that we will be able
to obtain debt or equity financing or that we will be able to obtain it on favorable terms.

We anticipate being involved in a variety of litigation. Although we have not been subject to any litigation to date,
we anticipate being involved in a range of court proceedings in the ordinary course of business as we continue to
operate our business. These actions may include eviction proceedings and other landlord-tenant disputes, challenges to
title and ownership rights (including actions brought by prior owners alleging wrongful foreclosure by their lender or
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loan servicer) and issues with local housing officials arising from the condition or maintenance of a property. While
we intend to vigorously defend any non-meritorious action or challenge, no assurance can be given that we will not
incur significant expense relating to these matters or that they will not require significant management attention and
adversely affect us.

Our underwriting criteria and evaluation of properties involves a number of assumptions that may prove
inaccurate, which may cause us to overpay for our properties or incur significant costs to operate a property. In
determining whether a particular property or portfolio of properties meets our investment criteria, we make a number
of assumptions, including assumptions related to estimated time of possession, annual operating costs, market rental
rates and potential rent amounts, time from purchase to leasing and tenant default rates. These assumptions may prove
inaccurate, causing us to pay too much for properties we acquire, overvalue our properties or our properties not to
perform as we expect, and adjustments to the assumptions we make in evaluating potential purchases may result in
fewer properties qualifying under our investment criteria. Improvements in the market prices for single-family homes
in our target markets or decreases in the available inventory could also reduce the supply of properties that meet our
investment criteria. Reductions in the supply of properties that meet our investment criteria may adversely affect our
operating results and ability to implement our business plan.
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Certain of our older properties may contain lead-based paint, which we may be required to remove or could expose
us to liability, either of which would adversely affect our operating results. The existence of lead paint is especially a
concern in residential units and can cause health problems, particularly for children. A structure built prior to 1978
may contain lead-based paint and may present a potential exposure to lead; however, structures built after 1978 are not
likely to contain lead-based paint. Federal and state laws impose certain disclosure requirements and restrict and
regulate renovation activities on housing built before 1978. Violation of these restrictions could result in fines or
criminal liability, and we could be subject to liability arising from lawsuits alleging personal injury or related claims.
Although we attempt to comply with all such regulations, we have not conducted tests on our properties to determine
the presence of lead-based paint and we cannot guarantee that we will not incur any material liabilities as a result of
the presence of lead paint in our properties.

Operating our business on a larger scale could result in substantial increases in our expenses. One of our goals is
to implement our single-family rental business nationally. Our business model assumes that we can successfully use
our platform to acquire and manage single-family homes on a larger scale than we have done to date without a
negative disproportional increase in our expenses. As our business grows in size and complexity, we can provide no
assurance that our management platform will ultimately prove to be “scalable,” we will be able to achieve economies of
scale or we will be able to manage additional properties in our current markets, successfully enter new markets or
grow our business without incurring significant additional expenses.

Debt service obligations could adversely affect our operating results, may require us to sell properties and could
adversely affect our ability to make or sustain distributions to our stockholders and the market price of our
common stock. We have entered into loan agreements with banks pursuant to which we owe an aggregate of
$31,005,586 as of December 31, 2017. The proceeds of which we used to purchase additional homes. Our loan
transactions are secured by first priority liens and related rents on our homes. We may finance future activities with
additional indebtedness and we may be more likely to do so as our business grows. We may borrow for a number of
reasons, such as financing acquisitions, capital expenditures or distributions necessary to qualify as a REIT. Our
governing documents contain no limitations on the amount of debt that we may incur. As a result, we may incur
substantial debt at our parent company and or at our subsidiary levels in the future.

Incurring debt could subject us to many risks, including the risks that:

• our cash flows from operations will be insufficient to make required payments of principal and interest;

• our debt may increase our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions;

•we will be subject to restrictive covenants that require us to satisfy and remain in compliance with certain financial
requirements or that impose limitations on the type or extent of activities we conduct;
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•
we may be required to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to payments on our debt,
thereby reducing cash available for distribution to our stockholders, funds available for operations and capital
expenditures, future business opportunities or other purposes; and

• the terms of any refinancing may not be as favorable as the terms of the debt being refinanced.

If we do not have sufficient funds to repay any debt we incur when it matures, we may need to refinance the debt or
raise additional equity. If, at the time of any refinancing, prevailing interest rates or other factors result in higher
interest rates on refinancing, increases in interest expense could adversely affect our cash flows and, consequently,
cash available for distribution to our stockholders. To the extent we are required to raise additional equity to satisfy
such debt, existing stockholders would see their interests diluted. If we are unable to refinance our debt or raise
additional equity on acceptable terms, we may be forced to dispose of substantial numbers of properties on
disadvantageous terms, potentially resulting in losses or the incurrence of special taxes that apply to dispositions by
REITs of properties that are considered to be inventory or dealer property. To the extent we cannot meet any existing
or future debt service obligations, we will risk losing some or all of our properties that may be pledged to secure our
obligations to foreclosure. Any unsecured debt agreements we enter into may contain specific cross-default provisions
with respect to specified other indebtedness, giving the unsecured lenders the right to declare a default if we are in
default under other loans in some circumstances.

-22-

Edgar Filing: Reven Housing REIT, Inc. - Form 10-K

45



Security breaches and other disruptions could compromise our information and expose us to liability, which would
cause our business and reputation to suffer. In the ordinary course of our business, we acquire and store sensitive
data, including intellectual property, our proprietary business information and personally identifiable information of
our prospective and current tenants, our employees and third-party service providers on our networks and website. The
secure processing and maintenance of this information is critical to our operations and business strategy. Despite our
security measures, our information technology and infrastructure may be vulnerable to attacks by hackers or breached
due to employee error, malfeasance or other disruptions. Any such breach could compromise our networks and the
information stored there could be accessed, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. Any such access, disclosure or other loss
of information could result in legal claims or proceedings, liability under laws that protect the privacy of personal
information, regulatory penalties, disruption to our operations and the services we provide to customers or damage our
reputation, which could adversely affect our results of operations and competitive position.

Risks Related to the Single-Family Rental Housing Market

If rents in our markets do not increase sufficiently to keep pace with rising costs of operations, our cash available
for distribution will be adversely impacted. The success of our business model will substantially depend on conditions
in the single-family rental market in our geographic markets. Our asset acquisitions are premised on assumptions
about, among other things, occupancy and rent levels, and if those assumptions prove to be inaccurate our cash flows
will be lower than expected. When we first began executing our business plan, rental rates and occupancy levels
benefited from macroeconomic trends affecting the U.S. economy and residential real estate markets in particular,
including:

•a tightening of credit that has made it more difficult to finance a home purchase, combined with efforts by consumers
generally to reduce their exposure to credit;

•weak economic and employment conditions that have increased foreclosure rates and made it more difficult for
families to remain in homes that were purchased prior to the economic downturn;

•declining real estate values that have challenged the traditional notion that homeownership is a stable investment; and

•
the unprecedented level of vacant housing comprising the real estate owned, or REO, by banks,
government-sponsored enterprises, or GSEs, and other mortgage lenders or guarantors, and inventory held for sale by
banks, GSEs, and other mortgage lenders or guarantors.

In recent periods, however, we have seen a reversal of these trends in the residential rental market. Eventually, the
continued strengthening of the U.S. economy and job growth, coupled with government programs designed to keep
homeowners in their homes and/or other factors, may contribute to trends that favor homeownership rather than
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renting. A softening of the rental market in our markets would reduce our rental revenue, which could adversely
impact our cash available for distribution.

Acquiring properties during periods when the single-family home sector is experiencing substantial inflows of
capital and intense competition may result in inflated purchase prices and increase the likelihood that our
properties will not appreciate in value and may, instead, decrease in value. The allocation of substantial amounts of
capital for investment in the single-family home sector and significant competition for income producing real estate
may inflate the purchase prices for such assets. To the extent we purchased or in the future purchase real estate in such
an environment, it is possible that the value of our properties may not appreciate and may, instead, decrease in value,
perhaps significantly, below the amount we paid for such properties. In addition to macroeconomic and local
economic factors, technical factors, such as a decrease in the amount of capital allocated to the single-family home
sector and the number of investors participating in the sector, could cause the value of our properties to decline.
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We may engage in expedited transactions that increase the risk of loss. Our underwriting guidelines require a
thorough analysis of many factors, including, among others, the underlying property’s financial performance and
condition, geographic market assessment and future prospects of the property within the market. Investment analyses
and decisions by us may frequently be required to be undertaken on an expedited basis to take advantage of
investment opportunities. In such cases, the information available to us at the time of making an investment decision
may be limited, and we may not have access to detailed information regarding the investment property, such as
physical characteristics, environmental matters, zoning regulations or other local conditions affecting an investment
property. If we make the decision to purchase a property prior to the full completion of one or more of these analyses,
we may fail to identify certain risks that we would otherwise have identified and suffer significant losses as a result.
Therefore, no assurance can be given that we will have knowledge of all circumstances that may adversely affect an
investment. Additionally, we expect to rely upon independent consultants in connection with its evaluation of
proposed investments, and no assurance can be given as to the accuracy or completeness of the information provided
by such independent consultants or to our right of recourse against them in the event errors or omissions do occur.

Properties acquired as part of portfolios or in bulk may subject us to a variety of risks. All of our properties have
been, and we expect that a substantial portion of any future property acquisitions will be, purchased as portfolios in
bulk from owners of portfolios of single-family homes. To the extent the management and leasing of such properties
have not been consistent with our property management and leasing standards, we may be subject to a variety of risks,
including risks relating to the condition of the properties, the credit quality and employment stability of the tenants
and compliance with applicable laws, among others. In addition, financial and other information provided to us
regarding such portfolios during our due diligence may not be accurate, and we may not discover such inaccuracies
until it is too late to seek remedies against such sellers. To the extent we timely pursue such remedies, we may not be
able to successfully prevail against the seller in an action seeking damages for such inaccuracies.

We may be unable to keep or attract tenants. We may not be able to retain current, or attract new, tenants for the
properties we may acquire. We may make substantial concessions in terms of rent and lease incentives, and construct
tenant improvements, to attract new tenants or keep existing tenants. The operating results and financial viability of
any property could be substantially and materially affected by any inability to retain and attract tenants. Additionally,
there is the risk that tenants may break their leases before those leases expire. Any of such properties may not be able
to retain or increase its current occupancy at projected rents. If that occurs, our operations and our ability to make
distributions to stockholders may be adversely affected.

Lease terminations or tenant defaults could reduce our income and limit our ability to make distributions. The
success of our investments will materially depend on the financial stability of our tenants. The inability of tenants to
meet their rental obligations would lower our net income. A default by a significant number of tenants on their lease
payments would cause us to lose the revenue associated with such leases and require us to find an alternative source of
revenue to meet operating expenses. We may fail to, or may not be able to, discover factors that would indicate a
heightened level of uncertainty with respect to tenant defaults when performing due diligence on prospective
investments. Tenant defaults increase the risk that we, and our stockholders, could suffer a loss.
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If a tenant defaults or goes bankrupt, we may experience delays in enforcing our rights as landlord and may incur
substantial costs in protecting our investment and re-letting the property. If a defaulting tenant does not cooperate in
vacating the property, we would have to engage in time-consuming and costly prosecution and enforcement of
eviction proceedings, during which time there would be no rental revenues from such unit and no likely recovery of
damages from the defaulting tenant. These events could limit our ability to make distributions to stockholders and
decrease the value of our common stock.

If and when residents of our portfolio properties decide not to renew their leases upon expiration, we may be unable to
relet such residents’ properties. Even if the residents do renew or we can relet the properties, the terms of renewal or
reletting may be less favorable than current lease terms. If we are unable to promptly renew the leases or relet the
properties, or if the rental rates upon renewal or reletting are significantly lower than expected rates, then our results
of operations and financial condition will be adversely affected.
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A number of our properties are part of HOAs, and we and our tenants are subject to the rules and regulations of
such HOAs, which may be arbitrary or restrictive. Violations of such rules may subject us to additional fees,
penalties and litigation with such HOAs which would be costly. As of December 31, 2017, approximately 18% of
our properties are located within HOAs, which are private entities that regulate the activities of owners and occupants
of, and levy assessments on, properties in a residential subdivision. We pay all HOA fees and assessments directly.
The majority of the HOA fees due on our properties are billed annually. The fees are paid when due by our property
managers and are included in our property and operating expenses. HOAs in which we own properties may have or
may enact onerous or arbitrary rules that restrict our ability to restore, market or lease our properties or require us to
restore or maintain such properties at standards or costs that are in excess of our planned budgets. Such rules may
include requirements for landscaping, limitations on signage promoting a property for lease or sale or the requirement
that specific construction materials be used in restorations. Some HOAs also impose limits on the number of property
owners who may rent their homes, which, if met or exceeded, would cause us to incur additional costs to sell the
property and opportunity costs of lost rental revenue. Furthermore, many HOAs impose restrictions on the conduct of
occupants of homes and the use of common areas, and we may have tenants who violate HOA rules and for which we
may be liable as the property owner. Additionally, the boards of directors of the HOAs in which we own property may
not make important disclosures about the properties or may block our access to HOA records, initiate litigation,
restrict our ability to sell our properties, impose assessments or arbitrarily change the HOA rules. We may be unaware
of or unable to review or comply with HOA rules before purchasing a property, and any such excessively restrictive or
arbitrary regulations may cause us to sell such property at a loss, prevent us from renting such property or otherwise
reduce our cash flow from such property, which would have an adverse effect on our returns on these properties.

We are subject to tenant relief laws and may be subject to rent control laws, which could negatively impact our
rental revenue. As an owner of rental properties, we expect that we will regularly be seeking to evict tenants who are
not paying their rent or are otherwise in material violation of the terms of their lease. Eviction activities will result in
additional legal costs and require the time and attention of our management. The eviction process is typically subject
to numerous legal requirements and mandatory “cure” policies, which may increase our costs and delay our ability to
gain possession of and stabilize a property. Additionally, state and local landlord-tenant laws may impose legal duties
on us to assist tenants in relocating to new housing, or restrict our ability to recover certain costs or charge tenants for
damage tenants cause to our property. Because such laws vary by state and locality, we will need to be familiar with
and take appropriate steps to comply with applicable landlord-tenant laws in the jurisdictions in which we operate, and
we will need to incur supervisory and legal expenses to ensure such compliance. To the extent that we do not comply
with state or local laws, we may be subjected to civil litigation filed by individuals, a class of plaintiffs or by state or
local law enforcement. We may be required to pay our adversaries’ litigation fees and expenses if judgment is entered
against us in such litigation or if we settle such litigation.

Furthermore, rent control laws may affect our rental revenue. Especially in times of recession and economic
slowdown, rent control initiatives can receive significant political support. If rent control becomes applicable to
certain of our properties, the effects on both our rental revenue and the value of such properties could be material and
adverse.
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Class action, tenants’ rights and consumer rights litigation may result in increased expenses and harm our results.
There are numerous tenants’ rights and consumer rights organizations that operate in our markets, and, as we grow in
scale, we may attract attention from some of these organizations and become a target of legal demands or litigation.
With the increased market for single-family rentals arising from former homeowners who may have lost their
properties, some of these organizations may shift their litigation, lobbying, fundraising and grass roots organizing
activities to focus on landlord-tenant issues, including issues relating to the Fair Housing Act, or FHA, and its state
law counterparts. While we intend to conduct our business lawfully and in compliance with applicable landlord-tenant
and consumer laws, such organizations might work in conjunction with trial and pro bono lawyers in one state or
multiple states to attempt to bring claims against us on a class action basis for damages or injunctive relief. We cannot
anticipate what form such legal actions might take if initiated or what remedies they may seek. Additionally, these
organizations may lobby local county and municipal attorneys or state attorneys general to pursue enforcement or
litigation against us or may lobby state and local legislatures to pass new laws and regulations to constrain our
business operations. If they are successful in any such endeavors, they could limit our business operations and may
impose on us significant litigation expenses, including settlements to avoid continued litigation or judgments for
damages or injunctions.

Poor tenant selection and defaults by our tenants may negatively affect our financial performance and reputation.
Our success will depend, in large part, upon our ability to attract and retain qualified tenants for our properties. This
will depend, in turn, upon our ability to screen applicants, identify good tenants and avoid tenants who may default.
We will inevitably make mistakes in our selection of tenants, and we may rent to tenants whose default on our leases
or failure to comply with the terms of the lease or HOA regulations negatively affect our financial performance,
reputation and the quality and value of our properties. For example, tenants may default on payment of rent, make
unreasonable and repeated demands for service or improvements, make unsupported or unjustified complaints to
regulatory or political authorities, make use of our properties for illegal purposes, damage or make unauthorized
structural changes to our properties which may not be fully covered by security deposits, refuse to leave the property
when the lease is terminated, engage in domestic violence or similar disturbances, disturb nearby residents with noise,
trash, odors or eyesores, fail to comply with HOA regulations, sub-let to less desirable individuals in violation of our
leases or permit unauthorized persons to live with them. In addition, defaulting tenants will often be effectively
judgment-proof. The process of evicting a defaulting tenant from a family residence can be adversarial, protracted and
costly. Furthermore, some tenants facing eviction may damage or destroy the property. Damage to our properties may
significantly delay re-leasing after eviction, necessitate expensive repairs or impair the rental revenue or value of the
property, resulting in a lower than expected rate of return. In addition, we will incur turnover costs associated with
re-leasing the properties, such as marketing expense and brokerage commissions, and will not collect revenue while
the property is vacant. Although we will attempt to work with tenants to prevent such damage or destruction, there can
be no assurance that we will be successful in all or most cases. Such tenants will not only cause us not to achieve our
financial objectives for the properties in which they live, but may subject us to liability, and may damage our
reputation with our other tenants and in the communities where we do business.
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Declining real estate values and impairment charges could adversely affect our earnings and financial condition.
We intend to review the carrying value of our long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances, such as adverse market conditions, indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. If our
evaluation indicates that we may be unable to recover the carrying value of a material portion of our real estate
investments, an impairment loss will be recorded to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value
of the properties. These losses would have a direct impact on our net income, because recording an impairment loss
results in an immediate negative adjustment to net income. They would also be reflected as a decrease in assets on our
balance sheet. The evaluation of anticipated cash flows is highly subjective and is based in part on assumptions
regarding future occupancy, rental rates and capital requirements that could differ materially from actual results in
future periods. A deteriorating real estate market may cause us to reevaluate the assumptions used in our impairment
analysis. Impairment charges could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, cash available for
distribution and market price of our common stock.

Risks Related to the Real Estate Industry Generally

There are significant risks involved with any investment in real estate. The performance of our investments, and the
performance of our company and our ability to make distributions, is subject to those risks typically associated with
investments in real estate. Any change in operating expenses and tax rates could adversely affect operating results or
render the sale, financing, or refinancing of a portfolio of properties difficult or unattractive. Certain expenditures
associated with the properties will be fixed (principally real estate taxes and maintenance costs) and will be payable
even if the properties do not generate sufficient income, which could have a negative impact on us. No assurance can
be given that certain assumptions as to future costs of operating any of our properties will be accurate, since such
matters will depend on events and factors beyond our control. These factors include, among others:

•
changes in national, regional, or local economic conditions, including economic slowdowns or recessions and national
and international political and socioeconomic circumstances, which could negatively impact our ability to lease
vacancies or to sell properties on favorable terms and the ability of any tenant to pay rent;

•changes in local market conditions or characteristics, including construction of new residential housing properties that
compete with a particular property;

•
changes in interest rates and in the availability, costs, and terms of borrowings, including recent unprecedented
volatility and disruption in the credit markets, which may make the sale, financing, or refinancing of a portfolio of
properties difficult and/or costly;

•changes in federal, state, or local regulations and controls affecting rents, prices of goods, fuel and energy
consumption, environmental restrictions, real estate taxes, and other factors affecting real property;
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•federal, state, and local regulatory requirements, including state and local fire and life-safety requirements, zoning and
permitted use laws;

• continued validity and enforceability of leases;

• the vacancy rate and the length of any vacancy for a property;
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• the financial condition of tenants;

•the ongoing need for capital improvements and our ability to control the costs, plans, specifications, and timing in
connection with such improvements;

• changes in operating costs such as utilities;

• costs of remediation and liabilities associated with environmental conditions;

•the perceptions of prospective tenants and residents of the safety, convenience, and attractiveness of the properties and
surrounding areas;

• acts of nature, such as earthquakes, tornadoes, and floods; and

• utility and other easements in favor of third parties may exist on and encumber a particular property.

A worsening of current financial market conditions or events negatively impacting the U.S. banking system could
adversely affect our operations and our ability to make distributions.

Uninsured or underinsured losses relating to real property may adversely affect our returns. We attempt to ensure
that all of the properties we acquire are adequately insured to cover casualty losses. However, there are certain losses,
including losses from floods, hurricanes, fires, earthquakes, acts of war, acts of terrorism or riots, that may not always
be insured against or that are not generally fully insured against because it is not deemed economically feasible or
prudent to do so. In addition, changes in the cost or availability of insurance could expose us to uninsured casualty
losses. In the event that any of the properties we acquire incurs a casualty loss that is not fully covered by insurance,
the value of our assets will be reduced by the amount of any such uninsured loss, and we could experience a
significant loss of capital invested and potential revenues in these properties and could potentially remain obligated
under any recourse debt associated with the property. Inflation, changes in building codes and ordinances,
environmental considerations and other factors might also keep us from using insurance proceeds to replace or restore
a property after it has been damaged or destroyed. Under those circumstances, the insurance proceeds we receive
might be inadequate to restore our economic position on the damaged or destroyed property. Any such losses could
adversely affect us and the market price of our common stock. In addition, we may have no source of funding to repair
or reconstruct the damaged property, and we cannot assure you that any such sources of funding will be available to us
for such purposes in the future.
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Due diligence on properties may not reveal all conditions that may adversely affect the value of our investments.
We perform due diligence on each investment prior to its acquisition. Regardless of the thoroughness of the due
diligence process, not all circumstances affecting the value of an investment can be ascertained through the due
diligence process. If the due diligence materials provided to us are inaccurate, if we do not sufficiently investigate or
follow up on matters brought to our attention as part of the due diligence process, or if the due diligence process fails
to detect material facts that impact the value determination, we may acquire an investment that results in significant
losses to us or may overpay for an investment, which would cause our financial results to suffer.

Contingent or unknown liabilities could adversely affect our financial condition. Our acquisition activities are
subject to many risks. We may acquire properties that are subject to unknown or contingent liabilities, including
liabilities for or with respect to liens attached to properties, unpaid real estate taxes, utilities or HOA charges for
which a prior owner remains liable, clean-up or remediation of environmental conditions or code violations, claims of
vendors or other persons dealing with the acquired properties and tax liabilities, among other things. In each case, our
acquisition may be without any, or with only limited, recourse with respect to unknown or contingent liabilities or
conditions. As a result, if any such liability were to arise relating to our properties, or if any adverse condition exists
with respect to our properties that is in excess of our insurance coverage, we might have to pay substantial sums to
settle or cure it, which could adversely affect us. The properties we acquire may also be subject to covenants,
conditions or restrictions that restrict the use or ownership of such properties, including prohibitions on leasing or
requirements to obtain the approval of HOAs prior to leasing. We may not discover such restrictions during the
acquisition process and such restrictions may adversely affect our ability to operate such properties as we intend.
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In addition, purchases of single-family homes acquired as part of a portfolio or in bulk purchases typically involve few
or no representations or warranties with respect to the properties and may allow us limited or no recourse against the
sellers of such properties. Such properties also often have unpaid tax, utility and HOA liabilities for which we may be
obligated but fail to anticipate.

Costs of complying with governmental laws and regulations may reduce our income and cash available for
distributions. Real property and the operations conducted on real property are subject to federal, state and local laws
and regulations relating to, among other things, environmental protection, human health and safety and access by
persons with disabilities. We could be subject to liability in the form of fines or damages for noncompliance with
these laws and regulations, even if we did not cause the events(s) resulting in liability.

Environmental Laws Generally.  Environmental laws and regulations generally govern wastewater discharges, air
emissions, the operation and removal of underground and above-ground storage tanks, the use, storage, treatment,
transportation and disposal of solid hazardous materials, the remediation of contaminated property associated with the
disposal of solid and hazardous materials and other health and safety-related concerns. Some of these laws and
regulations may impose joint and several liability on tenants, owners or operators of real property for the costs to
investigate or remediate contaminated properties, regardless of fault, whether the acts causing the contamination were
legal, regardless of whether the contamination was present prior to a purchaser’s acquisition of a property, and whether
an owner knew of such contamination. The conditions of investments at the time we acquire them, operations in the
vicinity of our investments, such as the presence of underground tanks, or activities of unrelated third parties may
affect the value or performance of our investments.

Hazardous Substances.  The presence of hazardous substances on owned real estate owned by us, or the failure to
properly remediate these substances, may hinder our ability to sell, rent or pledge investments as collateral for future
borrowings. Any material expenditures, fines, or damages that we must pay will reduce our ability to make
distributions to stockholders and may reduce the value of an investment in our common stock.

Other Regulations.  We may be required to operate our properties in compliance with fire and safety regulations,
building codes and other land use regulations, as they may be adopted by governmental agencies and bodies and
become applicable to our properties. We may be required to make substantial capital expenditures to comply with
those requirements, and these expenditures could adversely affect our performance and ability to make distributions to
stockholders.

We may obtain only limited warranties when we purchase a property and would have only limited recourse in the
event our due diligence did not identify any issues that lower the value of our property. The seller of a property
often sells such property in its “as is” condition on a “where is” basis and “with all faults” without any warranties of
merchantability or fitness for a particular use or purpose. In addition, purchase and sale agreements may contain only
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limited warranties, representations and indemnifications that will only survive for a limited period after the closing.
The purchase of properties with limited warranties increases the risk that we may lose some or all of our invested
capital in the property, as well as the loss of rental revenue from that property.

We may have difficulty selling real estate investments, and our ability to distribute all or a portion of the net
proceeds from such sales to our stockholders may be limited. Real estate investments are relatively illiquid, and, as a
result, we may have a limited ability to sell our properties should the need arise. When we sell our properties, we may
not realize gains on such sales. We may elect not to distribute any proceeds from the sales of properties to our
stockholders; for example, we may use such proceeds to:

• purchase additional properties;

• repay debt, if any;

• create working capital reserves;

• complete repairs, maintenance or other capital improvements or expenditures to our remaining properties; or

• for general corporate purposes.
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Our ability to sell our properties may also be limited by our need to avoid the 100% prohibited transactions tax that is
imposed on gain recognized by a REIT from the sale of property characterized as dealer property. In order to ensure
that we avoid such characterization, we may be required to hold our properties for a minimum period of time and
comply with certain other requirements in the Code or dispose of our properties through our TRS, which will be
subject to federal and state income taxation as a corporation.

Increases in property taxes could adversely affect the value of a property or our ability to hold the property long
enough to realize the desired return on its investment. Property taxes may increase as tax rates change and as the
properties are assessed or reassessed by taxing authorities. As the owner of real estate properties, we will be
responsible for payment of the taxes to the applicable government authorities. If real property taxes increase, we may
or may not be able to raise rents to offset such increased taxes. Because such changes in property taxes are difficult to
predict when a property is acquired, the financial results projected at the time of our investment may be realized
during the period of our ownership and, therefore, cash flows and property values could be materially and negatively
affected in a manner that we cannot foresee. If we fail to pay any such taxes, the applicable taxing authority may place
a lien on the property and the property may be subject to a tax sale.

Our properties may be or become subject to condemnation or eminent domain proceedings. A governmental
authority could bring an eminent domain or inverse condemnation action against a property. Such an action could
have a material adverse effect on the financial viability and marketability of that property, and, as a result, the results
of our operations and our ability to make distributions to stockholders.

Risks Related to Our Organization and Structure

Provisions of our charter may limit the ability of a third party to acquire control of us by authorizing our Board of
Directors to issue additional securities. Our Board of Directors may, without stockholder approval, approve an
amendment to our charter to increase or decrease the aggregate number of our shares or the number of shares of any
class or series that we have the authority to issue, and classify or reclassify any unissued shares of our common or
preferred stock, and set the preferences, rights and other terms of the classified or reclassified shares. As a result, our
Board of Directors may authorize the issuance of additional shares or establish a series of common or preferred stock
that may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control of our company, including transactions at a
premium over the market price of our shares, even if stockholders believe that a change in control is in their interest.
These provisions, along with the restrictions on ownership and transfer contained in our charter and certain provisions
of Maryland law described below, could discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or make it more difficult for a
third party to gain control of us, which could adversely affect the market price of our securities.

Provisions of Maryland law may limit the ability of a third party to acquire control of us by requiring our Board of
Directors or stockholders to approve proposals to acquire our company or effect a change in control. Certain

Edgar Filing: Reven Housing REIT, Inc. - Form 10-K

58



provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law, or the MGCL, applicable to Maryland corporations may have
the effect of inhibiting a third party from making a proposal to acquire us or of impeding a change in control under
circumstances that otherwise could provide our stockholders with the opportunity to realize a premium over the
then-prevailing market price of their shares, including:

•

“business combination” provisions that, subject to limitations, prohibit certain business combinations between us and an
“interested stockholder” (defined generally as any person (other than us or any subsidiary) who beneficially owns 10%
or more of the voting power of our outstanding voting stock after the date on which we first had 100 or more
beneficial owners of our stock, or an affiliate or associate of us who, at any time within the two-year period
immediately prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the voting power of our then
outstanding stock after the date on which we first had 100 or more beneficial owners of our stock) or an affiliate of
any interested stockholder for five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder became an
interested stockholder, and, thereafter, any such business combination between us and an interested stockholder
generally must be recommended by our Board of Directors and approved by the affirmative vote of at least (1) 80% of
the votes entitled to be cast by holders of our outstanding voting stock and (2) two-thirds of the votes entitled to be
cast by holders of our outstanding voting stock other than shares held by the interested stockholder with whom (or
with whose affiliate) the business combination is to be effected or held by an affiliate or associate of the interested
stockholder, unless, among other conditions, our stockholders receive a minimum price (as defined in the MGCL) for
their shares and the consideration is received in cash or in the same form as previously paid by the interested
stockholder for its shares; and
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•

“control shares” provisions that provide that holders of our “control shares” (defined as shares of stock which, if
aggregated with all other such shares of stock owned by the acquirer or in respect of which the acquirer is able to
exercise or direct the exercise of voting power (except solely by virtue of a revocable proxy), would entitle the
acquirer to exercise voting power in electing directors within one of three ranges) acquired in a “control share
acquisition” have no voting rights except to the extent approved by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the
votes entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding votes cast by (1) the person who makes or proposes to make a
control share acquisition, (2) an officer or (3) an employee of us who is also a director of the corporation.

By resolution of our Board of Directors, we have opted out of the business combination provisions of the MGCL and
provided that any business combination between us and any other person is exempt from the business combination
provisions of the MGCL, provided that the business combination is first approved by our Board of Directors
(including a majority of directors who are not affiliates or associates of such persons). In addition, pursuant to a
provision in our bylaws, we have opted out of the control share provisions of the MGCL. However, our Board of
Directors may by resolution elect to opt in to the business combination provisions of the MGCL, and we may, by
amendment to our bylaws, opt in to the control share provisions of the MGCL at any time in the future, whether
before or after an acquisition of control shares.

Certain provisions of the MGCL permit our Board of Directors, without stockholder approval and regardless of what
is currently provided in our charter or bylaws, to implement certain corporate governance provisions, some of which
(for example, a classified board) are not currently applicable to us. These provisions may have the effect of limiting or
precluding a third party from making an unsolicited acquisition proposal for us or of delaying, deferring or preventing
a change in control of us under circumstances that otherwise could be in the best interests of our stockholders. Our
charter contains a provision whereby we elect, at such time as we become eligible to do so, to be subject to the
provisions of Title 3, Subtitle 8 of the MGCL relating to the filling of vacancies on our Board of Directors.

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to take action against our directors and officers are limited, which
could limit your recourse in the event of actions not in your best interests. Under Maryland law, generally, a director
will not be liable if he or she performs his or her duties in good faith, in a manner he or she reasonably believes to be
in our best interests and with the care that an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would use under similar
circumstances. In addition, our charter limits the liability of our directors and officers to us and our stockholders for
money damages, except for liability resulting from:

• actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services; or

• active and deliberate dishonesty that is established by a final judgment and is material to the cause of action.

Our charter authorizes us to obligate ourselves to, and our bylaws require us to, indemnify our directors and officers
for actions taken by them in those capacities to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law. Our bylaws require
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us to indemnify each director and officer, to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law, in the defense of any
proceeding to which he or she is made, or threatened to be made, a party to, or witness in, by reason of his or her
service to us. In addition, we may be obligated to advance the defense costs incurred by our directors and officers. As
a result, we and our stockholders may have more limited rights against our directors and officers than might otherwise
exist absent the current provisions in our charter and bylaws or that might exist with other companies.
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Our charter contains provisions that make removal of our directors difficult, and the employment agreements we
have with some of our executives contain severance provisions that make termination of their employment under
certain circumstances expensive for us, which could make it difficult for our stockholders to effect changes to our
Board of Directors and our management. Our charter provides that a director may be removed only for cause (as
defined in our charter) and then only by the affirmative vote of holders of shares entitled to cast at least two-thirds of
all the votes entitled to be cast generally in the election of directors. Our charter also provides that vacancies on our
Board of Directors may be filled only by a majority of the remaining directors in office, even if less than a quorum.
These requirements prevent stockholders from removing directors except for cause and with a substantial affirmative
vote and from replacing directors with their own nominees and may prevent a change in control of our company that
is in the best interests of our stockholders.

We have entered into employment agreements with each of our executive officers containing severance provisions
that could make it difficult and costly for us to terminate their employment.

Our Board of Directors may change our investment strategy, financing strategy or leverage policies, or any of our
other major policies, without the consent of stockholders. Our Board of Directors determines our major strategies
and policies, including policies and guidelines relating to our acquisitions and divestitures, asset allocation, leverage,
financing, growth, operations, indebtedness and distributions to stockholders. Our Board of Directors may amend or
revise these and other policies and guidelines from time to time without the vote or consent of our stockholders, which
could result in our acquiring properties that are different from, and possibly riskier than, the types of single-family
residential real estate and related investments described in this report. Accordingly, our stockholders will have limited
control over changes in our policies, and those changes could adversely affect our business, results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

We may structure acquisitions of property in exchange for OP units on terms that could limit our liquidity or our
flexibility. We may acquire properties by issuing OP units in exchange for a property owner contributing property to
the operating partnership. If we enter into such transactions, in order to induce the contributors of such properties to
accept OP units, rather than cash, in exchange for their properties, it may be necessary for us to provide them
additional incentives. For instance, our operating partnership’s limited partnership agreement provides that any holder
of units may exchange limited partnership units for cash equal to the value of an equivalent number of shares of our
common stock or, at our option, for shares of our common stock on a one-for-one basis. We may, however, enter into
additional contractual arrangements with contributors of property under which we would agree to repurchase a
contributor’s units for shares of our common stock or cash, at the option of the contributor, at set times. If the
contributor required us to repurchase units for cash pursuant to such a provision, it would limit our liquidity and thus
our ability to use cash to make other investments, satisfy other obligations or make distributions to stockholders.
Moreover, if we were required to repurchase units for cash at a time when we did not have sufficient cash to fund the
repurchase, we might be required to sell one or more properties to raise funds to satisfy this obligation. Furthermore,
we might agree that if distributions the contributor received as a limited partner in our operating partnership did not
provide the contributor with a defined return, then upon redemption of the contributor’s units we would pay the
contributor an additional amount necessary to achieve that return. Such a provision could further negatively impact
our liquidity and flexibility. Finally, in order to allow a contributor of a property to defer taxable gain on the
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contribution of property to our operating partnership, we might agree not to sell a contributed property for a defined
period of time or until the contributor exchanged the contributor’s units for cash or shares. Such an agreement would
prevent us from selling those properties, even if market conditions made such a sale favorable to us.

If our operating partnership fails to qualify as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, we could fail to
qualify as a REIT and suffer other adverse consequences. Our operating partnership will initially be wholly-owned,
directly and indirectly, by us, and will be classified for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a disregarded entity. Once
our operating partnership has more than one other member apart from us and our wholly-owned subsidiaries, we
believe that it will then be treated as a partnership and not an association or a publicly traded partnership taxable as a
corporation, for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a disregarded entity or partnership, our operating partnership
will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on its income. Instead, each of the partners will be allocated its share of
our operating partnership’s income. No assurance can be provided, however, that the IRS will not challenge our
operating partnership’s status as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, or that a court would not sustain
such a challenge. If the IRS were successful in treating our operating partnership as an association or publicly traded
partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we would fail to meet the gross income tests
and certain of the asset tests applicable to REITs and, accordingly, would not qualify as a REIT. In that case, our
income would be subject to corporate income tax without any tax deduction for dividends that we pay. Also, the
failure of the operating partnership to qualify as a partnership would cause it to become subject to U.S. federal
corporate income tax, which would reduce significantly the amount of its cash available for distribution to its partners,
including us.
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Risks Related to Qualification and Operation as a REIT

Failure to qualify as a REIT could adversely affect our operations and our ability to make distributions. We intend
to be treated as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. However, there can be no assurance that we will be
successful in obtaining and maintaining REIT status. Our ability to qualify as a REIT will depend on our satisfaction
of numerous requirements (some on an annual and quarterly basis) established under highly technical and complex
provisions of the Code, for which there may be only limited judicial or administrative interpretations. Qualification
and maintenance of REIT status involves the determination of various factual matters and circumstances not entirely
within our control, including requirements related to the nature of our gross assets, gross income, the composition of
our shareholders and the distribution of our income. No assurance can be given that legislation, new regulations,
administrative interpretations or court decisions will not change the tax laws with respect to qualification as a REIT or
the U.S. federal income tax consequences of that qualification.

If we were to fail to qualify as a REIT for any taxable year, we would be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our
taxable income at corporate rates. In addition, we would generally be disqualified from treatment as a REIT for the
four taxable years following the year in which we lose our REIT status. Losing our REIT status would reduce our net
earnings available for investment or distribution to stockholders because of the additional tax liability. In addition,
distributions to stockholders would no longer be deductible in computing our taxable income and we would no longer
be required to make distributions. To the extent that distributions had been made in anticipation of our qualifying as a
REIT, we might be required to borrow funds or liquidate some investments in order to pay the applicable corporate
income tax. In addition, although we intend to elect for qualification as a REIT, it is possible that future economic,
market, legal, tax, or other considerations may cause our Board of Directors to determine that it is no longer in our
best interest to be qualified as a REIT and recommend that we do not proceed with our proposed REIT election or
otherwise revoke our REIT election.

To qualify as a REIT, we must meet annual distribution requirements, which could result in us distributing
amounts that may otherwise be used for our operations. To obtain the favorable tax treatment accorded to REITs, we
normally will be required each year to distribute to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income,
determined without regard to the deduction for distributions paid and by excluding net capital gains. We will be
subject to U.S. federal income tax on our undistributed taxable income and net capital gain and to a 4% nondeductible
excise tax on any amount by which distributions we pay with respect to any calendar year are less than the sum of
85% of our ordinary income, 95% of our capital gain net income and 100% of our undistributed income from prior
years. These requirements could cause us to distribute amounts that otherwise would be spent on acquisitions of
properties and it is possible that we might be required to borrow funds or sell assets to fund these distributions. It is
possible that we might not always be able to continue to make distributions sufficient to meet the annual distribution
requirements required to maintain our REIT status, avoid corporate tax on undistributed income and/or avoid the 4%
excise tax.
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From time to time, we may generate taxable income that is greater than our income for financial reporting purposes, or
differences in timing between the recognition of taxable income and the actual receipt of cash may occur. If we do not
have other funds available in these situations, we could be required to borrow funds on unfavorable terms, sell
investments at disadvantageous prices or distribute amounts that would otherwise be invested in future acquisitions to
make distributions sufficient to enable us to pay out enough of our taxable income to satisfy the REIT distribution
requirement and to avoid corporate income tax and the 4% excise tax in a particular year. These alternatives could
increase our costs or reduce our equity. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to grow,
which could adversely affect our value.

Distributions to tax-exempt investors may be classified as unrelated business taxable income. Neither ordinary nor
capital gain distributions with respect to our common stock nor gain from the sale of common stock should generally
constitute unrelated business taxable income to a tax-exempt investor. However, there are certain exceptions to this
rule. In particular:
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•

Part of the income and gain recognized by certain qualified employee pension trusts with respect to our common stock
may be treated as unrelated business taxable income if shares of our common stock are predominately held by
qualified employee pension trusts, and we are required to rely on a special look-through rule for purposes of meeting
one of the REIT share ownership tests, and we are not operated in a manner that prevents treatment of such income or
gain as unrelated business taxable income;

•Part of the income and gain recognized by a tax-exempt investor with respect to our common stock would constitute
unrelated business taxable income if the investor incurs debt in order to acquire the common stock; and

•

Part or all of the income or gain recognized with respect to our common stock by social clubs, voluntary employee
benefit associations, supplemental unemployment benefit trusts and qualified group legal services plans which are
exempt from federal income taxation under Sections 501(c)(7), (9), (17), or (20) of the Code may be treated as
unrelated business taxable income.

The prohibited transactions tax may limit our ability to dispose of our properties. A REIT’s net income from
prohibited transactions is subject to a 100% tax. In general, prohibited transactions are sales or other dispositions of
property other than foreclosure property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business. We
may be subject to the prohibited transactions tax in an amount equal to 100% of net gain upon a disposition of real
property. Although a safe harbor to the characterization of the sale of real property by a REIT as a prohibited
transaction is available, we cannot assure you that we will be able to comply with the safe harbor or that we will avoid
owning property that may be characterized as held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business.
Consequently, we may choose not to engage in certain sales of our properties or may conduct such sales through a
taxable REIT subsidiary (our TRS), which would be subject to federal and state income taxation as a corporation. For
example, if we decide to acquire properties opportunistically to restore in anticipation of immediate resale, we will
need to conduct that activity through our TRS to avoid the 100% prohibited transactions tax. No assurance can be
given, however, that the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the IRS) will respect a transaction by which any such
properties are contributed to our TRS, and, even if the contribution transaction is respected, our TRS may incur a
significant tax liability as a result of any such sales.

We may pay taxable dividends of our common stock and cash, in which case stockholders may sell shares of our
common stock to pay tax on such dividends, placing downward pressure on the market price of our common stock.
We may distribute taxable dividends that are payable in cash and common stock at the election of each stockholder.
The IRS has issued private letter rulings to other REITs treating certain distributions that are paid partly in cash and
partly in stock as taxable dividends that would satisfy the REIT annual distribution requirement and qualify for the
dividends paid deduction for federal income tax purposes. Those rulings may be relied upon only by taxpayers to
whom they were issued, but we could request a similar ruling from the IRS. Accordingly, it is unclear whether and to
what extent we will be able to make taxable dividends payable in cash and common stock.

If we made a taxable dividend payable in cash and common stock, taxable stockholders receiving such dividends will
be required to include the full amount of the dividend as ordinary income to the extent of our current and accumulated
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earnings and profits, as determined for federal income tax purposes. As a result, stockholders may be required to pay
income tax with respect to such dividends in excess of the cash dividends received. If a U.S. stockholder sells the
common stock that it receives as a dividend in order to pay this tax, the sales proceeds may be less than the amount
included in income with respect to the dividend, depending on the market price of our common stock at the time of the
sale. Furthermore, with respect to certain non-U.S. stockholders, we may be required to withhold federal income tax
with respect to such dividends, including in respect of all or a portion of such dividend that is payable in common
stock. If we made a taxable dividend payable in cash and our common stock and a significant number of our
stockholders determine to sell shares of our common stock in order to pay taxes owed on dividends, it may be viewed
as economically equivalent to a dividend reduction and put downward pressure on the market price of our common
stock. We do not currently intend to pay taxable dividends in the form of our common stock and cash, although we
may choose to do so in the future.

Our ownership of our TRS is subject to limitations, and our transactions with our TRS could cause us to be subject
to a 100% penalty tax on certain income or deductions if those transactions are not conducted on arm’s-length
terms. In general, no more than 25% of the value of a REIT’s assets may consist of stock or securities of one or more
taxable REIT subsidiaries. The percentage is reduced to 20% commencing for tax years after 2017. In addition, the
Code limits the deductibility of interest paid or accrued by a taxable REIT subsidiary to its parent REIT to assure that
the taxable REIT subsidiary is subject to an appropriate level of corporate taxation. The Code also imposes a 100%
excise tax on REITs for certain transactions between a taxable REIT subsidiary and its parent REIT that are not
conducted on an arm’s-length basis. We intend to monitor the value of our respective investments in our TRS for the
purpose of ensuring compliance with the REIT asset requirements and to structure our transactions with our TRS on
terms that we believe are arm’s length to avoid incurring the 100% excise tax described above.
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There can be no assurance, however, that we will be able to comply with the REIT asset requirements or avoid
application of the 100% excise tax.

You may be restricted from acquiring or transferring certain amounts of our common stock. The stock ownership
restrictions of the Code for REITs and the 9.8% stock ownership limits in our charter may inhibit market activity in
our capital stock and restrict our business combination opportunities.

In order to qualify as a REIT for each taxable year after 2017, five or fewer individuals, as defined in the Code, may
not own, beneficially or constructively, more than 50% in value of our issued and outstanding stock at any time during
the last half of a taxable year. Attribution rules in the Code determine if any individual or entity beneficially or
constructively owns our capital stock under this requirement. Those attribution rules provide, among other things, for
the look-through of any of our common shares held by entities to the natural persons who own those entities. For
example, for purposes of calculating ownership under Code’s attribution rules, our largest shareholder, King Apex
Group Holdings IV Limited, is not considered to be an owner of our shares. Instead, those natural persons who own
King Apex Group Holdings IV Limited are counted as our shareholders, with our common shares held by the Fund
attributed to each of those natural persons based on their ownership of the Fund. In addition, shares are attributed
among certain family members, and shares underlying certain stock options are attributed to the option holder.

Additionally, at least 100 persons must beneficially own our capital stock during at least 335 days of a taxable year for
each taxable year after 2017. To help ensure that we meet these tests, our charter restricts the acquisition and
ownership of shares of our capital stock. If we fail to qualify as a REIT, we would be subject to U.S. federal income
tax on our taxable income, if any, at corporate rates for such year and all subsequent tax years until such time as we
qualify as a REIT.

Our charter, with certain exceptions, authorizes our directors to take such actions as are necessary and desirable to
preserve our qualification as a REIT. Unless exempted by our Board of Directors, our charter prohibits any person
from beneficially or constructively owning more than 9.8% in value or number of shares, whichever is more
restrictive, of our outstanding shares of common stock or more than 9.8% in value or number of shares, whichever is
more restrictive, of the aggregate outstanding shares of all classes and series of our capital stock. Our Board of
Directors expects to grant an exception to the King Apex Group holders of our common shares from this restriction,
subject to such terms and conditions as our Board of Directors may determine. Our Board of Directors may not grant
an exemption from these restrictions to any proposed transferee whose ownership in excess of 9.8% of the value of
our outstanding shares would result in our failing to qualify as a REIT. These restrictions on ownership and transfer
will not apply, however, if our Board of Directors determines that it is no longer in our best interest to continue to
qualify as a REIT or that compliance with the restrictions is no longer necessary in order for us to qualify as a REIT.
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Complying with REIT requirements may cause us to forgo otherwise attractive opportunities. To qualify as a REIT
for federal income tax purposes, we must continually satisfy tests concerning, among other things, the sources of our
income, the nature and diversification of our assets, the amounts that we distribute to our stockholders and the
ownership of our stock. We may be required to make distributions to stockholders at disadvantageous times or when
we do not have funds readily available for distribution and may be unable to pursue investments that would be
otherwise advantageous to us in order to satisfy the source-of-income or asset-diversification requirements for
qualifying as a REIT. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to make certain attractive
investments.

Complying with the REIT requirements may force us to liquidate otherwise attractive investments. To qualify as a
REIT, we must ensure that at the end of each calendar quarter, at least 75% of the value of our assets consists of cash,
cash items, government securities and qualified REIT real estate assets. The remainder of our investments (other than
governmental securities and qualified real estate assets) generally cannot include more than 10% of the outstanding
voting securities of any one issuer or more than 10% of the total value of the outstanding securities of any one issuer.
In addition, in general, no more than 5% of the value of our assets (other than government securities and qualified real
estate assets) can consist of the securities of any one issuer, and no more than 25% of the value of our assets in 2017
(20% beginning in 2018) can be represented by securities of one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries, and no more than
25% of our assets may consist of debt instruments issued by publicly offered REITS which are not secured by
qualified mortgages on real property. If we fail to comply with these requirements at the end of any calendar quarter,
we must correct such failure within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter to avoid losing our REIT status and
suffering adverse tax consequences. As a result, we may be required to liquidate otherwise attractive investments.
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Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends. The maximum
tax rate applicable to “qualified dividend income” payable to U.S. stockholders that are taxed at individual rates is
currently 20%. Dividends payable by REITs, however, generally are not eligible for the reduced rates on qualified
dividend income. The more favorable rates applicable to regular corporate qualified dividends could cause investors
who are taxed at individual rates to perceive investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than investments in
the stocks of non-REIT corporations that pay dividends, which could adversely affect the value of the shares of
REITs, including our common stock.

Liquidation of assets may jeopardize our REIT status. To qualify as a REIT, we must comply with requirements
regarding our assets and our sources of income. If we are compelled to liquidate our investments to satisfy our
obligations to our lenders, we may be unable to comply with these requirements, ultimately jeopardizing our status as
a REIT, or we may be subject to a 100% tax on any resultant gain if we sell assets that are treated as dealer property or
inventory.

Qualifying as a REIT involves highly technical and complex provisions of the Code. Qualification as a REIT
involves the application of highly technical and complex Code provisions for which only limited judicial and
administrative authorities exist. Even a technical or inadvertent violation could jeopardize our proposed REIT
qualification. Our qualification as a REIT will depend on our satisfaction of certain asset, income, organizational,
distribution, stockholder ownership and other requirements on a continuing basis. In addition, our ability to satisfy the
requirements to qualify as a REIT may depend in part on the actions of third parties over which we have no control or
only limited influence, including in cases where we own a non-controlling equity interest in an entity that is classified
as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Foreign investors may be subject to FIRPTA on the sale of common stock if we are unable to qualify as a
domestically controlled REIT. A foreign person disposing of a U.S. real property interest, including shares of a U.S.
corporation whose assets consist principally of U.S. real property interests, is generally subject to a tax known as the
Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act (“FIRPTA”) on the gain recognized on the disposition. FIRPTA can also
apply if a REIT makes a distribution to a foreign stockholder which is attributable to gain recognized by the REIT
upon a sale or disposition of a U.S. real property interest. FIRPTA does not apply, however, to the disposition of stock
in a REIT if the REIT is a domestically controlled REIT. A domestically controlled REIT is a REIT in which, at all
times during a specified testing period, less than 50% in value of its shares is held directly or indirectly by non-U.S.
holders. We are not currently domestically-controlled, and may never become domestically-controlled, and so there
can be no assurance that foreign investors will be able to rely on this exemption under FIRPTA. Another FIRPTA
exemption is potentially available in the case of gain realized by a foreign investor on a sale of our common stock, or
on a distribution by us that is attributable gain recognized by us upon a sale or disposition of a U.S. real property
interest, if our common stock is traded on an established securities market and the foreign investor did not at any time
during a specified testing period directly or indirectly own more than five percent of the value of our outstanding
common stock. Although we believe that our stock is currently considered under the applicable Treasury regulations
to be regularly traded on an established securities market, there can be no assurance that it will continue to be so
treated in the future.
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We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory tax changes that could reduce the market price of our
common stock. At any time, the federal income tax laws governing REITs or the administrative interpretations of
those laws may be amended. We cannot predict when or if any new federal income tax law, regulation or
administrative interpretation, or any amendment to any existing federal income tax law, regulation or administrative
interpretation, will be adopted, promulgated or become effective, and any such law, regulation, or interpretation may
take effect retroactively. We and our stockholders could be adversely affected by any such change in the federal
income tax laws, regulations or administrative interpretations.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

The availability and timing of our anticipated cash distributions are uncertain. We are generally required to
distribute to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the dividends
paid deduction and excluding any net capital gain, each year in order for us to qualify as a REIT under the Code,
which requirement we currently intend to satisfy through quarterly cash distributions of all or substantially all of our
REIT taxable income in such year, subject to certain adjustments. However, due to our net losses to date and our
limited operating history, we currently do not have the ability to fund distributions from cash flow from operations
and we cannot assure you how long it may take to generate sufficient available cash flow to fund distributions nor can
we assure you that sufficient cash will be available to make distributions to you.
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Our Board of Directors will determine the amount and timing of any distributions. In making such determinations, our
directors will consider all relevant factors, including the amount of cash available for distribution, capital
expenditures, general operational requirements and restrictions under applicable law. We bear all expenses incurred by
our operations, and the funds generated by our operations, after deducting these expenses, are currently estimated to
not be sufficient to allow for distributions to our stockholders. We cannot assure you how long it may take to generate
sufficient available cash flow to fund distributions, nor can we assure you that sufficient cash will be available to
make distributions to you. With a limited operating history, we may be unable to make, maintain or increase
distributions over time.

There are many factors that can affect the availability and timing of cash distributions to stockholders, including the
risk factors described in this report. Because we may receive rents and income from our properties at various times
during our fiscal year, distributions paid may not reflect our income earned in that particular distribution period. The
amount of cash available for distribution will be affected by many factors, including without limitation, the amount of
time it takes for us to deploy the net proceeds from our recently completed public offering into our target assets, the
amount of income we will earn from those investments, the amount of our operating expenses and many other
variables. Actual cash available for distribution may vary substantially from our expectations.

Certain of our existing stockholders affiliated with Mr. Xiaofan Bai have substantial influence over our company,
and their interests may not be aligned with the interests of our other stockholders and sales of their shares could
cause the market price of our common stock to decrease. As of December 31, 2017, Mr. Xiaofan Bai, a member of
our Board of Directors, and three of our stockholders affiliated with Mr. Bai collectively own approximately 55% of
our outstanding voting securities. These three stockholders are private equity funds managed and controlled by Mr.
Bai. As a result of this ownership interest, Mr. Bai has significant influence over our company and our business,
including decisions regarding mergers, consolidations and the sale of all or substantially all of our assets, election of
directors, any amendments to our articles of incorporation and bylaws, and other significant corporate actions
requiring stockholder approval. This concentration of ownership may also have the effect of discouraging, delaying or
preventing a future change of control, which could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium
for their shares as part of a sale of our company and might reduce the price of our shares. The interests of Mr. Bai and
his affiliates may not always be aligned with the interests of our other stockholders. Furthermore, any sales of
substantial amounts of shares of our common stock in the public market by Mr. Bai or the other stockholders affiliated
with Mr. Bai, or the perception that such sales might occur, could result in significant downward pressure on the
market price of our common stock. In addition, Mr. Xiaofan Bai and Mr. Xiaohang Bai, who is also a member of our
Board of Directors, are cousins.

An active trading market for our common stock may never develop. Prior the filing of this report, trading in our
common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market has been limited and sporadic. An active trading market for our common
stock may never develop or be sustained, which may affect your ability to sell your common stock and could depress
the market price of your common stock. As a result, no assurances can be given that you will be able to readily sell
your common stock at a price equal to or above the price you paid.
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There can be no assurance that we will ever provide liquidity to our investors through a sale of our company.
Potential investors are cautioned that no assurances can be given that any form of merger, combination, or sale of our
company or any of our real estate assets will take place, or that any merger, combination, or sale, even if
consummated, would provide liquidity or a profit for our investors. You should not invest in our company with the
expectation that we will be able to sell our company or any of our assets in order to provide liquidity or a profit for our
investors.

If a market for our stock develops, the trading and price of our common stock may be volatile and could decline
substantially. The stock markets, including the NASDAQ Capital Market, have experienced significant price and
volume fluctuations. As a result, the market price of our common stock is likely to be similarly volatile, and investors
in our common stock may experience a decrease in the value of their shares, including decreases unrelated to our
operating performance or prospects. The price of our common stock could be subject to wide fluctuations in response
to a number of factors, including those listed in this “Risk Factors” section, and others such as:
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• our operating performance and the performance of other similar companies;

• actual or anticipated changes in our business strategy prospects;

• actual or anticipated valuations in our quarterly operating results or dividends;

• changes in our earnings estimates;

• publication of research reports about the real estate industry;

•the passage of legislation or other regulatory developments that adversely affect us or the assets in which we seek to
invest;

• the use of significant leverage to finance our assets;

• changes in market valuations of similar companies;

• actions by our stockholders;

• the realization of any other risk factor in this report; and

• general economic conditions.

If the market price of our common stock declines significantly, you may be unable to resell your shares at or above the
price you paid for them. We cannot assure you that the market price of our common stock will not fluctuate or decline
significantly.

Reports published by analysts, including projections in those reports that exceed our actual results, could adversely
affect our common stock price and trading volume. Securities research analysts may establish and publish their own
periodic projections for our business. These projections may vary widely and may not accurately predict the results we
actually achieve. Our stock price may decline if our actual results do not match the projections of these securities
research analysts. Similarly, if one or more of the analysts who write reports on us downgrades our stock or publishes
inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price could decline. If one or more of these analysts
ceases coverage of us or fails to publish reports on us regularly, our stock price or trading volume could decline. If no
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analysts commence coverage of us, the trading price for our stock and the trading volume could be adversely affected.

Future sales of our common stock or other securities convertible into our common stock could cause the market
price of our common stock to decline and could result in the dilution of your shares. Our Board of Directors is
authorized, without your approval, to cause us to issue additional shares of our common stock (including equity or
debt securities convertible into common stock) or to raise capital through the issuance of preferred stock, options,
warrants and other rights, on terms and for consideration as our Board of Directors in its sole discretion may
determine. Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock could cause the market price of our common stock to
decrease significantly. To the extent the proceeds of any future equity offering are invested in residential assets that
have less favorable yield characteristics than our then-existing portfolio, our stockholders will suffer dilution in their
yield and distributable cash per share. We cannot predict the effect, if any, of future sales of our common stock, or the
availability of our common stock for future sales, on the market price of our common stock. Sales of substantial
amounts of our common stock, or the perception that such sales could occur, may adversely affect the market price of
our common stock.

Future offerings of debt securities, which would rank senior to our common stock upon our bankruptcy or
liquidation, and future offerings of equity securities that may be senior to our common stock for the purposes of
dividend and liquidating distributions, may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. In the future, we
may attempt to increase our capital resources by making offerings of debt securities or additional offerings of equity
securities. Upon bankruptcy or liquidation, holders of our debt securities and shares of preferred stock and lenders
with respect to other borrowings will receive a distribution of our available assets prior to the holders of our common
stock. Our preferred stock, if issued, could have a preference on liquidating distributions or a preference on dividend
payments or both that could limit our ability to pay a dividend or other distribution to the holders of our common
stock. Our decision to issue securities in any future offering will depend on market conditions and other factors
beyond our control. As a result, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future offerings, and
purchasers of our common stock in this offering bear the risk of our future offerings reducing the market price of our
common stock and diluting their ownership interest in our company.
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An increase in market interest rates may have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock and our
ability to make or sustain distributions to our stockholders. One of the factors that investors may consider in
deciding whether to buy or sell shares of our common stock is our ability to make or sustain distributions and the rate
of our distributions, if any, as a percentage of our share price, relative to market interest rates. If market interest rates
increase, prospective investors may demand a higher distribution rate on shares of our common stock or seek
alternative investments paying higher distributions or interest. As a result, interest rate fluctuations and capital market
conditions can affect the market price of shares of our common stock. For instance, if interest rates rise without an
increase in our distribution rate, the market price of shares of our common stock could decrease because potential
investors may require a higher distribution yield on shares of our common stock as market rates on our
interest-bearing instruments such as bonds rise. In addition, to the extent we have variable rate debt, rising interest
rates would result in increased interest expense on our variable rate debt, thereby adversely affecting our cash flow
and our ability to service our indebtedness and make distributions to our stockholders.

ERISA imposes additional obligations on us. In considering an investment in our common stock, trustees, custodians,
investment managers, and fiduciaries of retirement and other plans subject to the fiduciary responsibility provisions of
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), or the prohibited transaction provisions
of Section 4975 of the Code (including IRAs), should consider among other things: (i) whether an investment in the
common stock is in accordance with plan documents and satisfies the diversification requirements of Section 404(a)
of ERISA, if applicable; (ii) whether an investment in the common stock will result in unrelated business taxable
income to the plan; (iii) whether the investment is prudent under Section 404(a) of ERISA, if applicable; and (iv)
whether we or any of our affiliates is a fiduciary or party in interest to the plan. Fiduciaries and other persons
responsible for the investment of certain governmental and church plans that are subject to any provision of federal,
state, or local law that is substantially similar to the fiduciary responsibility provisions of Title I of ERISA or the
prohibited transaction provisions of Section 4975 of the Code that are considering the purchase of the common stock
should consider the applicability of the provisions of such similar law and whether the common stock would be an
appropriate investment under such similar law. The responsible fiduciary must take into account all of the facts and
circumstances of the plan and of the investment when determining if a particular investment satisfies its fiduciary
responsibility under ERISA. Other investors must consider the potential impact that benefit plan investments could
have on our operations.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 2.Properties

The following table presents statistics of our single-family homes by Metropolitan Statistical Area, or MSA, and
metro division as of December 31, 2017.
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Total Portfolio of Single-Family Homes — Summary Statistics
(as of December 31, 2017)

Market No. of
Homes

Aggregate
Investment

Average
Investment
per
Home

Properties
Leased

Properties
Vacant

Portfolio
Occupancy
Rate

Average
Age
(years)

Average
Size
(sq. ft.)

Average
Monthly
Rent

Average
Remaining
Lease
Term
(Months)

Atlanta,
Georgia 47 $3,423,069 $ 72,831 42 5 89.4 % 29 1,453 $ 909 4.7

Birmingham,
Alabama 117 8,191,836 70,016 107 10 91.5 % 53 1,290 838 4.0

Houston,
Texas 263 21,479,330 81,670 242 21 92.0 % 48 1,453 1,108 2.5

Jacksonville,
Florida 252 17,682,892 70,170 226 26 89.7 % 54 1,289 916 6.0

Memphis,
Tennesee 120 9,619,025 80,159 112 8 93.3 % 43 1,675 999 9.1

Totals 799 $60,396,152 $ 75,590 729 70 91.2 % 49 1,411 $ 980 4.9
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Company Executive Offices

We maintain our executive offices in 3,200 square feet of leased office space located at 875 Prospect Street, Suite 304,
La Jolla, California. The lease term is 64 months, expiring May 1, 2021. Monthly rent was $6,592 at December 31,
2017, subject to annual step increases of approximately 3% commencing each February 1st during the term.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

As of the date of this report, there are no pending legal proceedings to which we or our properties are subject, except
for routine litigation incurred in the normal course of business.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5.Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Repurchases of
Equity Securities

Market Information

Since August 30, 2016, our common stock has been traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “RVEN.”
Previously, our common stock was quoted on the OTCQB quotation platform under the symbol “RVEN.” We consider
our common stock to be “thinly traded” and any reported sale prices may not be a true market-based valuation of the
common stock. The following table shows the reported high and low sale prices per share for our common stock based
on information provided by the Nasdaq Capital Market and OTCQB for the periods indicated.

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2017 High Low
Fourth Quarter $4.97 $3.04
Third Quarter $6.75 $4.21
Second Quarter $5.98 $4.90
First Quarter $6.04 $5.46

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2016 High Low
Fourth Quarter $5.70 $4.65
Third Quarter $6.00 $4.25
Second Quarter $6.50 $5.25
First Quarter $6.50 $5.75

Holders of Record

As of March 29, 2018, there were approximately 358 holders of record of our common stock. This figure does not
reflect the beneficial ownership of shares held in nominee name.

Dividend Policy
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We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We plan to elect to be taxed as a REIT for
federal income tax purposes commencing with our 2017 fiscal year. As a REIT, under federal income tax law, we will
be required to distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

We have adopted the Reven Housing REIT, Inc. 2012 Incentive Compensation Plan providing for the grant of
non-qualified stock options and incentive stock options to purchase shares of our common stock and for the grant of
restricted stock, stock appreciation rights and restricted stock units. We have reserved 1,650,000 shares of our
common stock under the 2012 Plan. All of our officers, directors, employees and consultants are eligible to participate
under the 2012 Plan.

As of the date of this report, we have not granted any options under our 2012 Plan nor have we granted any non-plan
options. We have granted 531,864 shares of our common stock in stock awards under the 2012 Plan. As of December
31, 2017, 1,118,136 shares of our common stock initially reserved for issuance under our 2012 Plan remain available
for future issuance to employees, directors, consultants, and other service providers. The following table sets forth
certain information as of December 31, 2017 about our 2012 Plan and the non-plan options.
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Plan Category

(a)
Number of
Securities
to be Issued Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding
Options(1)

(b)
Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding
Options

(c)
Number of Securities
Remaining Available
for
Future Issuance Under
Equity Compensation
Plans
(Excluding Securities
Reflected In Column
(a))

Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders — $ N/A 1,118,136

Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders — N/A —

Total — $ N/A 1,118,136

(1)       Does not reflect the 531,864 shares of stock granted pursuant to our 2012 Plan.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Not applicable.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with the
“Business” section of this report and our consolidated financial statements and related notes that are included
elsewhere in this report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements based upon our current expectations
that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these
forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under “Cautionary Note Regarding
Forward-Looking Statements,” and in other parts of this report.

Overview

We are an internally managed Maryland corporation that engages in the acquisition, ownership and operation of
portfolios of leased single-family homes in the United States. We operate our portfolio properties as single family
rentals, or SFRs, and we generate most of our revenue from rental income from the existing tenants of the SFRs we
have acquired. We intend to elect to be taxed as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for federal income tax
purposes commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 2017.

As of December 31, 2017, we have invested an aggregate of approximately $60.4 million and own a total of 799
homes, of which 263 homes are in the Houston, Texas metropolitan area, 252 homes are in the Jacksonville, Florida
metropolitan area, 120 homes are in the Memphis, Tennessee metropolitan area (with two of the Memphis homes
located just across the border in Mississippi), 117 homes are in the Birmingham, Alabama metropolitan area, and 47
homes are in the Atlanta, Georgia metropolitan area. Subsequent to year-end, on February 16, 2018 we purchased an
additional 27 homes in Birmingham for approximately $1,659,000.

We intend to expand our acquisitions to other select markets in the United States that fit our investment criteria as we
continue to evaluate new investment opportunities in different markets. As of December 31, 2017, our portfolio
properties were 91.2% occupied. All of our portfolio properties have been acquired from available cash and with the
proceeds from our secured loan transactions with banks pursuant to which we had an outstanding principal amount
owed of approximately $31.0 million as of December 31, 2017. Our loan transactions are secured by first priority liens
and related rents on specific portfolios of our homes.

Our principal objective is to generate cash flow and distribute resulting profits to our stockholders in the form of
distributions, while gaining home price appreciation, or HPA, at the same time through the ownership of our portfolio
properties. With this objective in mind, we have developed our primary business strategy of acquiring portfolios of
leased SFRs. We believe the execution of this strategy will allow us to generate immediate and steady cash flow from
the rental income from the SFRs that we acquire while potentially gaining significant HPA over time. While our goal
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is to grow our company and generate available cash flow from the rental income of our SFRs that will allow us to pay
all of our operating costs for the operation of our portfolio properties and distribute profits to our stockholders in the
form of quarterly dividends, there can be no assurance we will be able to do so.

We plan to continue to acquire and manage single-family homes with a focus on long term earnings growth and
appreciation in asset value. Our ability to identify and acquire single-family properties that meet our investment
criteria will be affected by home prices in our markets, the inventory of properties available through our acquisition
channels, competition for our target assets, our capital available for investment, and the cost of that capital. We
believe the housing market environment in our markets remains attractive for single-family property acquisitions and
rentals. Pricing for housing in certain markets remains attractive and demand for housing is growing. At the same
time, we continue to face relatively steady competition for new properties and residents from local operators and
institutional managers. Housing prices across our markets have appreciated over the past year. Despite these gains, we
believe housing in certain of our markets continues to provide attractive acquisition opportunities and remains
inexpensive relative to replacement cost and affordability metrics.

We anticipate continued strong rental demand for single-family homes. While new building activity has begun to
increase, it remains below historical averages and we believe substantial under-investment in residential housing over
the past years will create upward pressure on home prices and rents as demand exceeds supply.
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Hurricane Harvey and Hurricane Irma

During the quarter ended September 30, 2017, a significant number of our properties in Houston and Jacksonville
incurred storm related damages from Hurricane Harvey and Hurricane Irma. We have estimated our storm related
damages to be approximately $2.8 million. The amount that is expected to be reimbursed under the terms of our
insurance policies is estimated to be approximately $2.3 million. The remaining $500,000 of repair costs represents
amounts we will fund from our available cash balances and are due to applicable deductible costs and uninsured costs
relating to the storms. This amount has been included in casualty losses, net, in our accompanying statement of
operations and has been combined with the results from other casualty gains and losses not directly caused by the
storm.

The Company is actively repairing its damaged homes in both Houston and Jacksonville and anticipates that all
properties will be restored to their original operating condition or better. As of December 31, 2017, the Company had
spent approximately $1.5 million in hurricane related repairs to its homes.

Property Portfolio

The following tables represent our investment in the homes as of December 31, 2017:

Total Portfolio of Single-Family Homes — Summary Statistics
(as of December 31, 2017)

Market No. of
Homes

Aggregate
Investment

Average
Investment
per
Home

Properties
Leased

Properties
Vacant

Portfolio
Occupancy
Rate

Average
Age
(years)

Average
Size
(sq. ft.)

Average
Monthly
Rent

Average
Remaining
Lease
Term
(Months)

Atlanta,
Georgia 47 $3,423,069 $ 72,831 42 5 89.4 % 29 1,453 $ 909 4.7

Birmingham,
Alabama 117 8,191,836 70,016 107 10 91.5 % 53 1,290 838 4.0

Houston,
Texas 263 21,479,330 81,670 242 21 92.0 % 48 1,453 1,108 2.5

Jacksonville,
Florida 252 17,682,892 70,170 226 26 89.7 % 54 1,289 916 6.0

Memphis,
Tennesee 120 9,619,025 80,159 112 8 93.3 % 43 1,675 999 9.1

Totals 799 $60,396,152 $ 75,590 729 70 91.2 % 49 1,411 $ 980 4.9
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth a comparison of the results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016:

$ %
2017 2016 Change Change

Revenue:
Rental income $7,817,709 $5,648,014 $2,169,695 38.4 %

Expenses:
Property operating and maintenance 2,242,219 1,684,431 557,788 33.1 %
Real estate taxes 1,312,188 875,641 436,547 49.9 %
Depreciation and amortization 1,990,486 1,334,555 655,931 49.1 %
General and administration 2,239,682 1,921,244 318,438 16.6 %
Noncash share-based compensation 174,375 425,000 (250,625 ) -59.0 %
Acquisition costs - 147,099 (147,099 ) -100.0 %

Total expenses 7,958,950 6,387,970 1,570,980 24.6 %

Operating loss (141,241 ) (739,956 ) 598,715 -80.9 %

Other income (expenses):
Casualty loss, net (462,179 ) - (462,179 ) -
Net gain on sale of residential properties 75,796 - 75,796 -
Other income 20,315 4,957 15,358 -
Interest expense (1,325,994) (1,037,355) (288,639 ) -27.8 %

Total other income (expenses), net (1,692,062) (1,032,398) (659,664 ) -63.9 %

Net loss $(1,833,303) $(1,772,354) $(60,949 ) -3.4 %

For the year ended December 31, 2017, we had total rental income of $7,817,709 compared to total rental income of
$5,648,014 for the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase is due primarily to an increase in the number of
homes owned during the 2017 period when compared to the number of homes owned during the year ended December
31, 2016. As of December 31, 2017, we owned 799 homes, at December 31, 2016 we owned 624 homes.

As of December 31, 2017, 729, or 91.2%, of our 799 homes were occupied. During the year ended December 31,
2017, we had 204 home leases turnover, which represented an annual turn rate of approximately 27.0% based on our
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total quarterly turnover for the year. As of December 31, 2016, 591, or 94.7%, of our 624 homes were occupied.
During the year ended December 31, 2016, we had 143 home leases turnover, which represented an annual turn rate of
approximately 26.3% based on our total quarterly turnover for the year. The decrease in occupancy in 2017 was due
primarily to the effects of Hurricane Harvey and Irma. As of December 31, 2017, we had 23 homes in Houston and
Jacksonville which were temporarily vacant and under repair due to Hurricane Harvey and Irma.

For the year ended December 31, 2017, we had property operating and maintenance expenses of $2,242,219 compared
to $1,684,431 for the prior year period. Property operating and maintenance expenses consist of insurance, property
management fees paid to third parties, repairs and maintenance costs, home owner association fees, and other
miscellaneous property costs. The increase in property operating, maintenance expenses from 2016 to 2017 reflects
the corresponding increase in our inventory of single family homes. Real estate taxes for the year ended December 31,
2017 were $1,312,188 compared to $875,641 for the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in real estate taxes
from 2016 to 2017 is based on an increase in our inventory of single family homes and an increase in our 2017 real
estate taxes per home due to increases in tax assessment values in excess of our historical annual increases. These
increases are due to market value increases for many of our homes since our initial purchase. We had net operating
income from rentals of $4,263,302 for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to net operating income from
rentals of $3,087,943 in the corresponding prior year. This resulted in a net operating income margin of 54.5% in 2017
compared to a net operating income margin of 54.7% in 2016.
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Depreciation and amortization on our home investments increased to $1,990,486 for the year ended December 31,
2017 compared to $1,334,555 in 2016, reflecting the corresponding increase in our inventory of single family homes.

General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 totaled $2,239,682 compared to general
and administrative expenses of $1,921,244 for the corresponding prior year period. General and administrative
expenses consist of personnel costs, outside director fees, occupancy fees, public company filing fees, legal,
accounting, and other general expenses. The increase in our general and administrative expenses is due to marginal
increases in legal, accounting, investor relations, filing fees, travel and promotional expense in 2017 when compared
to 2016.

During the year ended 2017, certain directors, officers and consultants were awarded noncash share-based
compensation of $174,375. During the year ended December 31, 2016, noncash share-based compensation was
$425,000 due to vesting of share awards to certain officers and consultants upon the achievement of certain milestones
related to our stock offering in that period.

Real estate acquisition costs were $147,099 during the year ended December 31, 2016. Due to new accounting
guidance, our purchases of portfolios of rented single-family homes are now considered to be asset purchases; thus,
corresponding acquisition costs are now capitalized as part of our purchase price of the single-family residential
properties acquired. Thus, there were no real estate acquisition costs expensed for the year ended December 31, 2017.
Real estate acquisition costs consist primarily of closing costs, due diligence costs and reports, and legal and
accounting fees relating to our acquisitions of single-family homes.

The above results in total expenses of $7,958,950 for the year ended December 31, 2017 resulting in an operating loss
for the year ended December 31, 2017 of $141,241, compared to total expenses of $6,387,970 for the year ended
December 31, 2016 and a corresponding operating loss of $739,956 for the year ended December 31, 2016.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, we incurred net casualty losses of $462,179 primarily due to damages to
our homes from Hurricane Harvey and Irma. These homes are currently being repaired and we expect them to be
restored to their pre-storm conditions. We expect costs in excess of our deductibles and recorded casualty loss to be
reimbursed by our insurance carriers. We did not incur any casualty losses during the year ended December 31, 2016.
We sold two residential properties during the year ended December 31, 2017 for a gain of $75,796. There were no
corresponding sales during the year ended December 31, 2016. Other income was $20,315 for the year ended
December 31, 2017 as compared to other income of $4,957 for the year ended December 31, 2016. Interest expense
on our notes payable was $1,325,994 for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to $1,037,355 for the year
ended December 31, 2016. The increase is primarily due to higher note payable balances for the year ended December
31, 2017 when compared to the corresponding period in 2016 due to new borrowings in 2017. This resulted in net
other expense of $1,692,062 for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to a net other expense of $1,032,398 for

Edgar Filing: Reven Housing REIT, Inc. - Form 10-K

88



the year ended December 31, 2016.

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $1,833,303. The net loss for the year ended December 31, 2016
was $1,772,354. The weighted average number of shares outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased
to 10,734,025 from 8,197,073 for the year ended December 31, 2016 resulting in a net loss per share of $0.17 for the
year ended December 31, 2017 and a net loss per share of $0.22 for the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase
in weighted average number of shares outstanding was due to the completion of a public offering during 2016. Note
that if the effect of the casualty loss caused by Hurricane Harvey and Irma were removed from our operating results
for the year ending December 31, 2017, the net loss would have been approximately $1,371,124 or approximately
$.13 per share.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity is a measure of our ability to meet potential cash requirements, fund and maintain our assets and operations,
make interest payments and fund other general business needs. Our liquidity, to a certain extent, is subject to general
economic, financial, competitive and other factors that are beyond our control. Our near-term liquidity requirements
consist primarily of acquiring properties, funding our operations, and making interest payments.

Our liquidity and capital resources as of December 31, 2017 consisted primarily of cash of $6,442,322. We believe
our current liquidity and the expected cash flows from operations will be sufficient to fund the present level of our
operations through the 12 months following the date of this report. However, our future acquisition activity will
depend primarily on our ability to raise funds from the further issuance of shares of our common stock or units of our
operating partnership combined with new loan transactions secured by our current and future home inventories. In
order to purchase additional single-family homes, we intend to opportunistically utilize the capital markets to raise
additional capital, including through the issuance of debt and equity securities, but there can be no assurance that we
will be able to access adequate liquidity sources on favorable terms, or at all.

Credit Facilities

On January 31, 2017, we borrowed $5,020,000 from a regional bank pursuant to our issuance of a promissory note
secured by deeds of trust in the principal amount of $5,020,000. Principal and accrued interest are payable in 60
consecutive monthly installments based on a 20-year amortization period until January 31, 2022 when the entire
amount of principal and interest remaining unpaid will be payable. Interest accrues and is payable monthly on the loan
at the rate equal to four and one-half percent (4.50%) per annum until maturity. The loan is secured by first priority
liens on certain homes in the Houston, Texas metropolitan area. The note and the deeds of trust contain customary
terms and conditions, including, without limitation, customary events of default and acceleration upon default,
including defaults in the payment of principal or interest, defaults in compliance with the covenants and bankruptcy or
other insolvency events.

On April 4, 2017, we entered into loan modification agreements where we modified the interest rate and amended the
maturity period on our loans with another regional bank with a total current outstanding principal amount due of
approximately $19,400,000. The modified loan agreement provides that monthly interest and principal payments will
be made based on a fixed interest rate of 4.5% and an amortization period of 25 years. All unpaid principal will be due
on April 5, 2020. The other terms remain generally unchanged. These loans are secured by first priority liens and
related rents on certain of our properties.
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On August 1, 2017, we received loan proceeds and issued a promissory note in the principal amount of $1,793,633 to
a regional bank secured by our homes located in Georgia. Interest accrues at a fixed rate of 4.5% and monthly
principal and interest payments will be made based on a 25-year amortization period with the remaining unpaid
principal due July 5, 2020.

On August 22, 2017, we received loan proceeds and issued a promissory note in the principal amount of $1,155,000 to
a regional bank secured by certain of our homes located in Tennessee. Interest accrues at a fixed rate of 4.5% and
monthly principal and interest payments will be made based on a 25-year amortization period with the remaining
unpaid principal due September 5, 2020.

On December 29, 2017, we received loan proceeds and issued a promissory note in the principal amount of
$3,793,920 to a regional bank secured by certain of our homes located in Alabama. Interest accrues at a fixed rate of
4.25% and monthly principal and interest payments will be made based on a 20-year amortization period with the
remaining unpaid principal due January 5, 2023. Subsequent to year end, on February 16, 2018, we received
additional proceeds of $2,736,630 and the principal balance on this loan was increased to $6,530,550.
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Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.

$
2017 2016 Change

Net cash provided by operating activities $451,472 $373,630 $77,842
Net cash used in investing activities (14,387,910) (9,677,165 ) (4,710,745 )
Net cash provided by financing activities 10,333,783 17,208,214 (6,874,431 )

Change in cash $(3,602,655 ) $7,904,679 $(11,507,334)

Operating Activities

We had net cash provided by operating activities of $451,472 for the year ended December 31, 2017. This resulted
from a net loss of $1,833,303, adding back depreciation and amortization of $1,990,486, noncash share-based
compensation of $174,375, amortization of deferred loan fees of $151,668, and casualty loss, net of $462,179 and
deducting gain on sale of residential property of $75,796, and then decreasing the amount by the net change in
operating assets and liabilities of $418,137.

We had net cash provided by operating activities of $373,630 in 2016. This resulted from a net loss of $1,772,354,
adding back depreciation and amortization of $1,334,555, noncash share-based compensation of $425,000, and
deferred loan fees of $121,308, and then increasing the amount by the net change in operating assets and liabilities of
$265,121.

Investing Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2017, we invested $12,950,856 in new homes, $2,418,380 in capital
improvements and hurricane restoration costs for our homes, and $254,771 in lease origination costs. We received
$205,027 of proceeds on the disposition of residential property, $950,000 of insurance proceeds for property damages,
and received $81,070 in refunds of escrow deposits for a total of $14,387,910 of cash used in investing activities.
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In 2016, we invested $8,986,000 in new homes, $506,581 in capital improvements for our homes, $222,985 in lease
origination costs, and received $38,401 in reductions in escrow deposits for a total of $9,677,165 of cash used in
investing activities.

Financing Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2017, we had net cash provided by financing activities of $10,333,783 derived
from $11,762,553 of proceeds from notes payable, less $570,992 of notes payable principal payments, less $304,482
of loan fees, less payments of deferred stock issuance costs of $553,296.

In 2016, we had net cash provided by financing activities of $17,208,214 derived from $18,473,100 of proceeds from
a public offering, less $76,385 of payments of notes payable, less payments of deferred stock issuance costs of
$1,188,501.

Our future acquisition activity relies primarily on our ability to raise funds from the further issuance of common
shares combined with new loan transactions secured by our current and future home inventories. We remain focused
on acquiring new capital. We believe our current cash balance combined with our estimated future net rental revenue
is sufficient to fund our operating activities through the 12 months following the date of this report.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates
and judgments that affect the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates based on historical experience and on various
other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Our critical accounting
policies are defined as those policies that we believe are the most important to the portrayal of our financial condition
and results of operations and that require management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a
result of the need to make estimates about the effects of matters that are inherently uncertain.
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Our critical and significant accounting policies are described in Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data, Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

None.

Net Operating Income

We define net operating income (or NOI) as total revenue less property operating and maintenance and real estate
taxes. NOI is a non-GAAP measurement that excludes acquisition costs, depreciation and amortization, general and
administration, legal and accounting, and interest expenses.

We consider NOI to be a meaningful financial measure when considered with the financial statements determined in
accordance with GAAP. We believe NOI is helpful to investors in understanding the amount of income after operating
expenses which is generated in a given period.

The following is a reconciliation of our NOI to net loss as determined in accordance with GAAP for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Year ended December 31,
2017 2016

Net loss $(1,833,303) $(1,772,354)

Depreciation and amortization 1,990,486 1,334,555
General and administration 2,239,682 1,921,244
Noncash share-based compensation 174,375 425,000
Acquisition costs - 147,099
Other expenses, net 1,692,062 1,032,398

Net operating income $4,263,302 $3,087,942
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Net operating income as a percentage of total revenue 54.5 % 54.7 %
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NOI should not be considered an alternative to net loss or net cash flows from operating activities, as determined in
accordance with GAAP, as indications of our performance or as measures of liquidity. Nor is NOI necessarily
indicative of cash available to fund future cash needs or distributions to shareholders. In addition, although we use
NOI for comparability in assessing our performance against other REITs, not all REITs compute the same non-GAAP
measure of NOI. Accordingly, our basis for computing this non- GAAP measure may not be comparable with that of
other REITs. This is due in part to the differences in property operating and maintenance expenses incurred by, and
real estate taxes applicable to, different companies and the significant effect these items have on NOI.

Funds From Operations and Core Funds From Operations

Funds From Operations (or FFO) is a non-GAAP financial measure that we believe, when considered with the
financial statements determined in accordance with GAAP, is helpful to investors in understanding our performance
because it captures features particular to real estate performance by recognizing that real estate generally appreciates
over time or maintains residual value to a much greater extent than do other depreciable assets. The National
Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (or NAREIT) defines FFO as net income (computed in accordance with
GAAP), excluding gains (or losses) from sales of, and impairment losses recognized with respect to, depreciable
property, plus depreciation and amortization, and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures.
Adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures are calculated on the same basis to determine FFO.

Core Funds From Operations (or Core FFO) is a non-GAAP financial measure that we use as a supplemental measure
of our performance. We believe that Core FFO is further helpful to investors as it provides a more consistent
measurement of our performance across reporting periods by removing the impact of certain items that are not
comparable from period to period. We adjust FFO for expensed acquisition fees and costs, share-based compensation,
non-cash interest expense related to amortization of deferred financing costs, casualty gains and losses, and certain
other non-comparable costs to arrive at Core FFO.

FFO and Core FFO should not be considered alternatives to net income (loss) or net cash flows from operating
activities, as determined in accordance with GAAP, as indications of our performance or as measures of liquidity.
These non-GAAP measures are not necessarily indicative of cash available to fund future cash needs. In addition,
although we use these non-GAAP measures for comparability in assessing our performance against other REITs, not
all REITs compute the same non-GAAP measures. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that our basis for
computing these non-GAAP measures is comparable with that of other REITs. This is due in part to the differences in
capitalization policies used by different companies and the significant effect these capitalization policies have on FFO
and Core FFO. Real estate costs which are accounted for as capital improvements are added to the carrying value of
the property and depreciated over time, whereas real estate costs that are expenses are accounted for as a current
period expense. This affects FFO and Core FFO because costs that are accounted for as expenses reduce FFO and
Core FFO. Conversely, real estate costs associated with assets that are capitalized and then subsequently depreciated
are added back to net income to calculate FFO and Core FFO.
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The following table sets forth a reconciliation of our net loss as determined in accordance with GAAP and our
calculations of FFO and Core FFO for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Year ended December 31,
2017 2016

Net loss $(1,833,303) $(1,772,354)

Add back depreciation and amortization 1,990,486 1,334,555
Less gain on sale of residential property (75,796 ) -

Funds used in operations $81,387 $(437,799 )

Add back noncash amortization of deferred loan fees 151,668 121,308
Add back casualty loss, net 462,179 -
Add back noncash share-based compensation 174,375 425,000
Add back acquisition costs - 147,099

Core funds from operations $869,609 $255,608

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Not applicable.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and

Stockholders of Reven Housing REIT, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Reven Housing REIT, Inc. (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and
cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, the
“financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform,
an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also
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included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

/s/ Squar Milner LLP

We have served as the
Company's auditor since
2015.

Newport Beach, California
March 29, 2018

F-1
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REVEN HOUSING REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2017 and 2016

2017 2016

ASSETS

Investments in single-family residential properties:
Land $10,996,361 $8,579,550
Buildings and improvements 49,399,791 39,419,038

60,396,152 47,998,588
Accumulated depreciation (4,542,707 ) (2,853,049 )
Investments in single-family residential properties, net 55,853,445 45,145,539

Cash 6,442,322 10,044,977
Rent and other receivables 645,441 246,378
Escrow deposits 24,430 105,500
Lease origination costs, net 317,359 329,395
Deferred stock issuance costs 553,296 -
Other assets, net 1,750,548 195,020

Total Assets $65,586,841 $56,066,809

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $1,453,142 $1,283,235
Resident security deposits 697,379 552,698
Notes payable, net 30,493,124 19,454,377

Total Liabilities 32,643,645 21,290,310

Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)

Stockholders' Equity
Preferred stock, $.001 par value; 25,000,000 shares authorized; No shares issued or
outstanding - -

Common stock, $.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 10,734,025 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively 10,734 10,734

Additional paid-in capital 41,677,465 41,677,465
Accumulated deficit (8,745,003 ) (6,911,700 )

Total Stockholders' Equity 32,943,196 34,776,499
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Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $65,586,841 $56,066,809

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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REVEN HOUSING REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

2017 2016
Revenue:
Rental income $7,817,709 $5,648,014

Expenses:
Property operating and maintenance 2,242,219 1,684,431
Real estate taxes 1,312,188 875,641
Depreciation and amortization 1,990,486 1,334,555
General and administration 2,239,682 1,921,244
Noncash share-based compensation 174,375 425,000
Acquisition costs - 147,099

Total expenses 7,958,950 6,387,970

Operating loss (141,241 ) (739,956 )

Other (expenses) income:
Casualty loss, net (462,179 ) -
Gain on sale of residential property, net 75,796 -
Other 20,315 4,957
Interest expense (1,325,994 ) (1,037,355)

Total other (expenses), net (1,692,062 ) (1,032,398)

Net loss $(1,833,303 ) $(1,772,354)

Net loss per share
(Basic and fully diluted) $(0.17 ) $(0.22 )

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 10,734,025 8,197,073

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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REVEN HOUSING REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

For the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

Common Stock Additional Accumulated
Shares Amount Paid-in Capital Deficit Total

Balance at January 1, 2016 7,016,796 $7,017 $ 24,601,295 $ (5,139,346 ) $19,468,966

Stock issued under share-based compensation
plans 22,609 22 113,023 - 113,045

Noncash share-based compensation - - 425,000 - 425,000

Proceeds from issuances of shares, net of
issuance costs 3,694,620 3,695 16,538,147 - 16,541,842

Net loss - - - (1,772,354 ) (1,772,354 )

Balance at December 31, 2016 10,734,025 10,734 41,677,465 (6,911,700 ) 34,776,499

Net loss - - - (1,833,303 ) (1,833,303 )

Balance at December 31, 2017 10,734,025 $10,734 $ 41,677,465 $ (8,745,003 ) $32,943,196

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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REVEN HOUSING REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

2017 2016

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net loss $(1,833,303 ) $(1,772,354 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 1,990,486 1,334,555
Noncash share-based compensation 174,375 425,000
Amortization of deferred loan fees 151,668 121,308
Casualty loss, net 462,179 -
Gain on sale of residential properties, net (75,796 ) -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Rent and other receivables (399,063 ) (6,450 )
Other assets (159,287 ) (98,702 )
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (4,468 ) 252,842
Resident security deposits 144,681 117,431
Net cash provided by operating activities 451,472 373,630

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Acquisitions of single-family residential properties (12,950,856) (8,986,000 )
Capital improvements for single-family residential properties (2,418,380 ) (506,581 )
Proceeds from disposition of single-family residential property 205,027 -
Insurance proceeds received for property damages 950,000 -
Lease origination costs (254,771 ) (222,985 )
Escrow deposits 81,070 38,401
Net cash used in investing activities (14,387,910) (9,677,165 )

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Proceeds from issuance of shares - 18,473,100
Proceeds from notes payable 11,762,553 -
Payments of notes payable (570,992 ) (76,385 )
Payment of loan fees (304,482 ) -
Payments of deferred stock issuance costs (553,296 ) (1,188,501 )
Net cash provided by financing activities 10,333,783 17,208,214

Net (Decrease) Increase In Cash (3,602,655 ) 7,904,679
Cash at the Beginning of the Year 10,044,977 2,140,298

Cash at the End of the Year $6,442,322 $10,044,977
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Supplemental Disclosure:

Cash paid for interest $1,148,404 $912,328
Noncash deferred stock issuance costs - 742,757

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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REVEN HOUSING REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION AND OPERATION

Reven Housing REIT, Inc. is a Maryland corporation (Reven Housing REIT, Inc., which along with its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, are also referred to herein collectively as the “Company”) which acquires portfolios of occupied and rented
single-family residential properties throughout the United States with the objective of receiving income from rental
property activity and future profits from the sale of rental property at appreciated values.

As of December 31, 2017, the Company owned 799 single-family homes in the Houston, Jacksonville, Memphis,
Birmingham and Atlanta metropolitan areas.

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”), as contained within the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”), and the rules and regulations of the Securities Exchange
Commission (“SEC”).

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Reven Housing REIT OP, L.P., Reven Housing GP, LLC, Reven Housing REIT TRS, LLC, Reven
Housing Georgia, LLC, Reven Housing Texas, LLC, Reven Housing Texas 2, LLC, Reven Housing Florida, LLC,
Reven Housing Florida 2, LLC, Reven Housing Alabama, LLC and Reven Housing Tennessee, LLC. All significant
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intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the balance sheet dates and reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the periods presented.
Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Financial Instruments

The carrying value of the Company’s financial instruments, as reported in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets, approximates fair value due to their short term nature. The Company’s short term financial instruments consist
of cash, rents and other receivables, escrow deposits, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and resident security
deposits.

The carrying value of the Company’s notes payable, as reported in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets,
approximates fair value due to their floating market interest rate and because their security and payment terms are
similar to other debt instruments currently being issued.

Investments in Single-Family Residential Properties

Prior to January 1, 2017, the Company accounted for its investments in single-family residential properties as business
combinations under the guidance of ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805”) and these acquisitions were
recorded at their estimated fair value. The purchase price was allocated to land, building and the existing leases based
upon their fair values at the date of acquisition, with acquisition costs expensed as incurred.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of
a Business, which changed the definition of a business and now requires management to determine whether
substantially all of the fair value of gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of
similar identifiable assets. When this is the case, the transferred assets and activities are not considered to be a
business. This determination is important as the accounting treatment for business combinations and asset acquisitions
differs since transactions costs are expensed in a business combination and capitalized in an asset acquisition. The
guidance is effective for public companies for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and for
interim periods within those annual periods, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted this guidance as of
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January 1, 2017, on a prospective basis, which results in our leased properties no longer meeting the definition of a
business. Based on this guidance, our current 2017 acquisitions are treated as asset acquisitions and are recorded at
their purchase price, and the purchase price is allocated between land, building, improvements and existing leases
based upon their
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REVEN HOUSING REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

relative fair values at the date of acquisition. The purchase price for purposes of this allocation is inclusive of
acquisition costs which typically include legal fees, title fees, property inspection and valuation fees, as well as other
closing costs.

Building improvements and buildings are depreciated over estimated useful lives of approximately 10 to 27.5 years,
respectively, using the straight-line method. Lease origination costs are amortized over the average remaining term of
the in-place leases which is generally less than one year. Maintenance and repair costs are charged to expenses as
incurred.

The Company assesses its investments in single-family residential properties for impairment whenever events or
changes in business circumstances indicate that carrying amounts of the assets may not be fully recoverable. When
such events occur, management determines whether there has been impairment by comparing the asset’s carrying value
with its fair value. Should impairment exist, the asset is written down to its estimated fair value. The Company did not
recognize any impairment losses for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 except for losses on certain
properties located in Houston and Jacksonville that were impacted by hurricanes in the third quarter of 2017 (see Note
3).

Cash

The Company maintains its cash at quality financial institutions. The combined account balances at one or more
institutions typically exceed the federal insurance coverage and thus there is a concentration of credit risk related to
amounts on deposit in excess of available federal insurance coverage. The Company believes that the risk is not
significant, as the Company does not anticipate the financial institutions’ non-performance.

Rents and Other Receivables
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Rents and other receivables represent the amount of rent receivables, security deposits and net rental funds which are
held by the property managers on behalf of the Company, net of any allowance for amounts deemed uncollectible.

Escrow Deposits

Escrow deposits include refundable and non-refundable cash and earnest money on deposit with third parties for
future property purchases. However, not all of these properties are certain to be acquired because properties may fall
out of escrow through the closing process for various reasons and these purchases are contingent on the Company’s
ability to secure the debt or equity financing required to fund the acquisition.

Deferred Loan Fees

Costs incurred in the placement of the Company’s notes payable are deferred and amortized using the effective interest
method over the term of the loans as a component of interest expense on the consolidated statements of operations.

Deferred Stock Issuance Costs

Deferred stock issuance costs represent amounts paid for legal, consulting, and other offering expenses in conjunction
with the future raising of additional capital to be completed within one year. These costs are netted against additional
paid-in capital as a cost of the stock issuance upon closing of the respective stock placement. During the year ended
December 31, 2017, the Company incurred $553,296 of deferred stock issuance costs which it anticipates will be
applied against proceeds of a future capital raise to be completed during the year ending December 31, 2018. During
the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company included $1,931,258 of deferred stock issuance costs in its statement
of stockholders’ equity in connection with its issuance of shares during 2016.

Security Deposits

Security deposits represent amounts deposited by tenants at the inception of the lease. As of December 31, 2017 and
2016, the Company had $697,379 and $552,698, respectively, in resident security deposits. Security deposits are
refundable, net of any outstanding charges and fees, upon expiration of the underlying lease.
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REVEN HOUSING REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue Recognition

Residential properties are leased to tenants under short term rental agreements of generally one year and revenue is
recognized over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Income Taxes

The Company currently plans to elect to be taxed as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”), as defined in the Internal
Revenue Code, commencing with the taxable year ended December 31, 2017. Accordingly, the Company does not
expect to be subject to federal income tax, provided that it qualifies as a REIT and distributions to the stockholders
equal or exceed REIT taxable income. During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company did not elect to be
taxed as a REIT, but due to significant operating losses and net operating loss carry-forwards, the Company was not
subject to federal income tax.

Qualification and taxation as a REIT depends upon the Company’s ability to meet the various qualification tests
imposed under the Internal Revenue Code related to the percentage of income that are earned from specified sources,
the percentage of assets that fall within specified categories, the diversity of capital stock ownership, and the
percentage of earnings that are distributed. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that the Company will be
organized or be able to operate in a manner to qualify or remain qualified as a REIT. If the Company fails to qualify
as a REIT in any taxable year, it will be subject to federal and state income tax (including any applicable alternative
minimum tax) on its taxable income at regular corporate tax rates, and the Company may be ineligible to qualify as a
REIT for four subsequent tax years. Even if the Company qualifies as a REIT, it may be subject to certain state or
local income taxes.

Incentive Compensation Plan
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During 2012, the Company established the 2012 Incentive Compensation Plan, which was subsequently amended and
restated in December 2013 (“2012 Plan”). The 2012 Plan allows for the grant of options and other awards representing
up to 1,650,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. Such awards may be granted to officers, directors,
employees, consultants and other persons who provide services to the Company or any related entity. Under the 2012
Plan, options may be granted at an exercise price greater than or equal to the market value at the date of the grant, for
owners of 10% or more of the voting shares, at an exercise price of not less than 110% of the market value. Awards
are exercisable over a period of time as determined by a committee designated by the Board of Directors, but in no
event, longer than ten years.

A total of 496,359 shares have been issued under the 2012 plan as of December 31, 2017. During February 2018, an
additional 35,505 shares were issued to officers, directors and employees as part of their accrued compensation for the
year ended December 31, 2017.

During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company recognized $174,375 and $425,000, respectively,
of compensation expense under the 2012 Plan.

Net Loss Per Share

Net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding. Warrants, stock options, and common stock issuable upon the conversion of the Company's preferred
stock (if any) are not included in the computation if the effect would be anti-dilutive and would increase earnings or
decrease loss per share. For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, potentially dilutive securities excluded
from the calculations were 263,588 shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding warrants granted in prior years.

Segment Reporting

The Company has determined that it has one reportable segment with activities related to leasing and operating
single-family homes as rental properties. The Company's properties are geographically dispersed and management
evaluates operating performance at the market level and while each market and its properties are unique, the aggregate
market portfolios have similar economic interests and operating performance.
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REVEN HOUSING REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Geographic Concentration

The Company holds concentrations of single-family residential properties in the following metropolitan areas in
excess of 10% of our total portfolio as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and as such the Company is more vulnerable
to any adverse macroeconomic developments in such areas:

Metropolitan Area 2017 2016
Houston, TX 33 % 42 %
Jacksonville, FL 32 % 41 %
Memphis, TN 15 % 15 %
Birmingham, AL 15 % 0 %

New Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which outlines a
new, single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers
and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The new model will
require revenue recognition to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration a company expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. The standard can be
applied either retrospectively to each period presented or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption.
In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the
Effective Date, which delays the effective date of ASU 2014-09 by one year. In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU
2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Principal versus Agent Considerations (Reporting
Revenue Gross versus Net), which is intended to improve the operability and understandability of the implementation
guidance on principal versus agent considerations. ASU 2014-09, ASU 2015-14 and ASU 2016-08 are herein
collectively referred to as the "New Revenue Recognition Standards". The New Revenue Recognition Standards are
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017. Early
adoption is permitted but not before annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016. The Company anticipates

Edgar Filing: Reven Housing REIT, Inc. - Form 10-K

116



adopting the New Revenue Recognition Standards effective as of January 1, 2018, and applying the modified
retrospective method. The Company has evaluated its revenue streams, and as they are primarily related to leasing
activities which are scoped out of the New Revenue Recognition Standards, it has determined that the adoption of
such standards will not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements and there will be no
cumulative translation adjustments upon adoption. The Company evaluated all of its real estate sales contracts through
December 31, 2017 and determined they qualified as sales to noncustomers. The gains on sales of real estate for the
two properties sold through December 31, 2017 were recognized on the full accrual method based on the existing
accounting standards and were determined to be completed contracts as of January 1, 2018, therefore the adoption of
the ASU No. 2014-09 did not have an impact on the Company’s real estate sale contracts. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact of this adoption, if any, on future recognition of gains on property sales.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases, a new lease standard which sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract (i.e. lessees and lessors).
Under ASU 2016-02, lessor accounting will be substantially similar to the current model, but aligned with certain
changes to the lessee model and ASU 2014-09. The new standard requires lessors to account for leases using an
approach that is substantially equivalent to existing guidance for sales-type leases, direct financing leases and
operating leases. The Company’s rental revenue is primarily generated from short-term operating leases. The new
standard requires lessees to apply a dual approach, classifying leases as either finance or operating based on the
principle of whether or not the lease is effectively a financed purchase of the leased asset by the lessee. This
classification will determine whether the lease expense is recognized based on an effective interest method or on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. A lessee is also required to record a right-of-use asset and a lease liability
for all leases with a term of greater than 12 months regardless of their classification. Leases with a term of 12 months
or less will be accounted for similar to existing guidance for operating leases today. The new standard is expected to
impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements as the Company has an operating office lease arrangement for
which it is the lessee. The new standard will be effective for the Company beginning on January 1, 2019, with early
adoption permitted. The new standard must be adopted using a modified retrospective transition, requiring application
of the new guidance at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented and provides for certain practical
expedients. The Company is currently evaluating the impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. The
amendments in this ASU include multiple provisions intended to simplify various aspects of the accounting for
share-based payments. The guidance will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15,
2016, and for interim reporting periods within those annual periods, with early adoption permitted. The Company
adopted this ASU as of January 1, 2017 and it has had no material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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REVEN HOUSING REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows, Classification of Certain Cash Receipts
and Cash Payments, which clarifies how certain cash receipts and cash payments should be presented and classified
on the statement of cash flows. The guidance will be effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017
and interim periods within that reporting period. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this
ASU will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows, Restricted Cash, which requires the
statement of cash flows to explain the change during the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents, and amounts
generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents. Thus, amounts generally described as restricted
cash and restricted cash equivalents should be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the
beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. The amendments do not
provide a definition of restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents. The guidance will be effective for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods within that reporting period. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact the adoption of this ASU will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of
a Business, which changed the definition of a business and will now require management to determine whether
substantially all of the fair value of gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of
similar identifiable assets. When this is the case, the transferred assets and activities are not considered to be a
business. This determination is important as the accounting treatment for business combinations and asset acquisitions
differs since transactions costs are expensed in a business combination and capitalized in an asset acquisition. The
guidance will be effective for public companies for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and
for interim periods within those annual periods, with early adoption permitted. The guidance will be applied
prospectively to any transactions occurring within the period of adoption. The Company adopted this guidance as of
January 1, 2017, on a prospective basis, which results in our leased properties no longer meeting the definition of a
business.
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NOTE 3. INVESTMENTS IN SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES

The following table summarizes the Company’s investments in single-family residential properties. The homes are
generally leased to individual tenants under leases with terms of one year or less.

Investments in Investments
in

Single-Family Single-Family

Number Buildings
and Residential Accumulated Residential

of Homes Land Improvements Properties,
Gross Depreciation Properties,

Net

Total at January 1, 2016 527 $6,761,350 $ 31,744,657 $ 38,506,007 $(1,630,873 ) $ 36,875,134

Purchases and
improvements during 2016:
Acquisitions 97 1,818,200 7,167,800 8,986,000 (1,222,176 ) 7,763,824
Improvements - - 506,581 506,581 - 506,581

Total at December 31, 2016 624 $8,579,550 $ 39,419,038 $ 47,998,588 $(2,853,049 ) $ 45,145,539

Purchases, improvements,
disposition during 2017:
Acquisitions 181 2,499,190 10,451,666 12,950,856 (1,723,679 ) 11,227,177
Improvements - - 2,418,380 2,418,380 - 2,418,380
Sales (2) (23,553 ) (118,559 ) (142,112 ) 12,881 (129,231 )
Loss due to
hurricane/casualties (4) (58,826 ) (2,770,734 ) (2,829,560 ) 21,140 (2,808,420 )

Total at December 31, 2017 799 $10,996,361 $ 49,399,791 $ 60,396,152 $(4,542,707 ) $ 55,853,445

F-10
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REVEN HOUSING REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 3. INVESTMENTS IN SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES (continued)

Hurricane Harvey and Hurricane Irma

During the quarter ended September 30, 2017, a significant number of the Company’s properties located in Houston
and Jacksonville incurred storm related damages from Hurricane Harvey and Hurricane Irma. The Company
determined that four of its homes were damaged beyond repair. The Company has estimated the extent of its asset
impairments, damages and repairs to the properties to be approximately $2.8 million and reduced its carrying value of
its homes by that amount. The Company has estimated that approximately $2.3 of the damages will be reimbursed in
accordance with the Company’s insurance policies. The remaining repair costs of approximately $500,000 represents
amounts that will be paid by the Company from its available cash balances and are due to applicable deductible costs
and uninsured costs. This amount has been included in casualty losses, net in the statement of operations and has been
combined with the results from other casualty gains and losses not directly caused by the storm.

The Company received approximately $950,000 for Hurricane Harvey and Hurricane Irma related damages from its
insurers during the year ended December 31, 2017. The remaining insurance reimbursement of approximately $1.4
million has been included in other assets.

The Company is actively repairing all of its damaged homes in both Houston and Jacksonville and anticipates that all
properties will be restored to their original operating condition or better. As of December 31, 2017, the Company had
made approximately $1.5 million of casualty repairs to its homes which amount is included in the 2017 improvement
costs shown above.

Recent Acquisitions

For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company included $998,743 of rental income, $350,496 of property
operating, maintenance and real estate taxes, $257,492 of depreciation, and net operating income of $390,755 in its
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consolidated statements of operations related to the Company’s acquisitions of additional properties during 2017.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company included $109,088 of rental income, $43,070 of property
operating, maintenance and real estate taxes, $147,099 of acquisition costs, $21,721 of depreciation, and net loss of
$102,802 in its consolidated statements of operations related to the Company’s acquisitions of additional properties
during 2016.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The following table summarizes, on an unaudited pro forma basis, the combined results of operations of the Company
for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 prepared as if all of the Company’s acquisitions of properties in 2017
and 2016 had occurred on January 1, 2016. This pro forma information does not purport to represent what the actual
results of operations of the Company would have been had these acquisitions occurred on this date, nor does it purport
to predict the results of operations for future periods.

For the Year Ended December 31
2017 2016

Rental income $ 8,456,366 $ 8,383,113
Property operating and maintenance $ 2,452,962 $ 2,407,626
Real estate taxes $ 1,425,949 $ 1,366,814
Depreciation and amortization $ 2,139,994 $ 2,033,395
Interest expense $ 1,615,994 $ 1,612,355
Net loss $ (1,958,658 ) $ (1,525,463 )
Net loss per share, basic and fully diluted $ (0.18 ) $ (0.19 )
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding, basic and fully diluted 10,734,025 8,197,073

The unaudited pro forma information for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 has been adjusted to include
the additional interest expense relating to the Company’s 2017 borrowings as if the debt was incurred on January 1,
2016.
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REVEN HOUSING REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 4. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

At December 31, 2017 and 2016, accounts payable and accrued liabilities consisted of the following:

2017 2016

Accounts payable $162,221 $248,456
Real estate taxes payable 781,898 667,811
Accrued compensation, board fees and other 416,633 300,500
Interest payable 92,390 66,468

$1,453,142 $1,283,235

NOTE 5. NOTES PAYABLE

On January 31, 2017, Reven Housing Texas 2, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, received loan
proceeds and issued a promissory note in the principal amount of $5,020,000 to a regional bank secured by 97 of the
Company’s homes located in Texas. Interest accrues at a fixed rate of 4.5% and monthly principal and interest
payments will be made based on a 20-year amortization period with the remaining unpaid principal due January 2022.

On April 4, 2017, the Company entered into loan modification agreements with a regional bank on four notes
mentioned in the summary below whereby the interest rate on all four loans was modified from a rate of 1% over the
prime rate to a fixed rate of 4.5% per annum. Principal and interest payments will be made monthly based on a
25-year amortization period with the remaining unpaid principal on all four loans due on April 5, 2020. The loans
have a prepayment penalty of 2% during the first year and 1% during the following year on amounts paid in excess of
the scheduled amortization. The loans are secured by deeds of trust encumbering homes in each specified area.

On August 1, 2017, Reven Housing Georgia, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, received loan
proceeds and issued a promissory note in the principal amount of $1,793,633 to a regional bank secured by the
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Company’s homes located in Georgia. Interest accrues at a fixed rate of 4.5% and monthly principal and interest
payments will be made based on a 25-year amortization period, with the remaining unpaid principal due July 5, 2020.

On August 22, 2017, Reven Housing Tennessee, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, received loan
proceeds and issued a promissory note in the principal amount of $1,155,000 to a regional bank secured by certain of
the Company’s homes located in Tennessee. Interest accrues at a fixed rate of 4.5% and monthly principal and interest
payments will be made based on a 25-year amortization period, with the remaining unpaid principal due September 5,
2020.

On December 29, 2017, Reven Housing Alabama, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, received loan
proceeds and issued a promissory note in the principal amount of $3,793,920 to a regional bank secured by certain of
the Company’s homes located in Alabama. Interest accrues at a fixed rate of 4.25% and monthly principal and interest
payments will be made based on a 20-year amortization period, with the remaining unpaid principal due January 5,
2023. Subsequent to year end, on February 16, 2018, the Company received additional proceeds of $2,736,630 and the
principal balance on this loan was increased to $6,530,550.

F-12
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REVEN HOUSING REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 5. NOTES PAYABLE (continued)

A summary of the Company’s notes payable as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 is as follows:

2017 2016
Interest
Rate
(Fixed)

Maturity
Date

Note
Reven Housing Texas, LLC $7,312,030 $7,502,504 4.50 % April, 2020
Reven Housing Texas 2, LLC 4,890,978 - 4.50 % January, 2022
Reven Housing Tennessee, LLC 3,830,791 3,908,829 4.50 % April, 2020
Reven Housing Florida, LLC 3,442,987 3,526,794 4.50 % April, 2020
Reven Housing Florida 2, LLC 4,805,389 4,875,898 4.50 % April, 2020
Reven Housing Georgia, LLC 1,780,765 - 4.50 % July, 2020
Reven Housing Tennessee, LLC 1,148,726 - 4.50 % September, 2020
Reven Housing Alabama, LLC 3,793,920 - 4.25 % January, 2023

31,005,586 19,814,025
Less deferred loan fees, net (512,462 ) (359,648 )
Notes payable, net $30,493,124 $19,454,377

Costs incurred in the placement of the Company’s debt are deferred and amortized using the effective interest method
over the term of the loans as a component of interest expense on the consolidated statements of operations. The
amount of unamortized fees are deducted from the remaining principal amount owed on the corresponding notes
payable. Unamortized deferred loan costs and fees totaled $512,462 and $359,648 as of December 31, 2017 and
December 31, 2016, respectively.

During the years months ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred $1,325,994 and $1,037,355,
respectively, of interest expense related to the notes payable, which includes $151,668 and $121,308, respectively, of
amortization of deferred loan fees.
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The following is a schedule of maturities, including principal amortization payments, for all notes payable outstanding
as of December 31, 2017:

2018 $ 785,729
2019 835,441
2020 21,574,818
2021 323,680
2022 4,344,708
2023 3,141,210

$ 31,005,586
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REVEN HOUSING REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 6. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND STOCK COMPENSATION

On February 1, 2016, the Company issued an aggregate of 22,609 shares of the Company’s common stock under the
2012 Plan to certain officers and consultants of the Company. The shares were valued at a per share price of $5.00 per
share consistent with the price of the Company’s current registered stock offering and were utilized as payment for a
portion of the officers and consultants outstanding bonus compensation for the year ended December 31, 2015 of
$113,045.

The Company filed a registration statement on Form S-11 with the Security Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for the
offer of a minimum of 3,000,000 shares and a maximum of 5,000,000 shares of common stock for sale to the public at
an offering price of $5.00 per share. The SEC declared the Company’s registration statement effective on May 10,
2016. Under the terms of the offering, the Company issued 3,694,620 shares of stock and received $18,473,100 in
gross offering proceeds through December 31, 2016 when the offering was terminated. Offering costs totaled
$1,931,258 and have been offset against additional paid-in capital as a cost of the stock issuance.

On October 16, 2014, the Company issued 425,000 shares of the Company’s common stock under the 2012 Plan to
certain officers and consultants of the Company. The shares issued are subject to restrictions and future vesting
conditions based on the Company reaching certain future milestones. During the year ended December 31, 2016,
106,250 of these shares became vested upon the achievement of certain milestones related to our public offering of
common stock mentioned above. Accordingly, $425,000 of noncash share-based compensation expense was then
recognized based on the value of the shares on the date of grant. None of the remaining 318,750 shares were vested as
of the issuance date. Compensation expense will be recognized in the applicable future periods on these unvested
shares should the applicable milestones be achieved in accordance with the vesting schedule. There is no assurance
that these milestones will in fact be achieved and that the shares will in fact vest in the future.

Subsequent to December 31, 2017, in January 2018, the Company issued 35,505 shares of the Company’s common
stock under the 2012 Plan to certain directors, officers, and consultants of the Company as payment for accrued 2017
compensation. Total compensation for the year ended 2017 that will be paid by the issuance of Company stock was
$174,375.
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The Company has outstanding warrants that allow holders to purchase up to 263,588 shares at an exercise price of
$4.00 per share.  The warrants will expire on September 27, 2018, if not exercised prior to that date.

NOTE 7. INCOME TAXES

The Company currently plans to elect REIT status effective for the year ended December 31, 2017. The Company
would then generally not be subject to income taxes assuming it complied with the specific distribution rules
applicable to REITs.

The Company has also incurred current and prior year net operating losses; thus the Company is not expecting to incur
current income tax expenses, and due to its currently planned election of REIT status commencing in 2017, is not
expected to realize any future tax benefits from the current years; or prior years’ operating losses.

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon sufficient future taxable income during the period that deductible
temporary differences and expected carry-forwards are available to reduce taxable income. The Company records a
valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not, that the Company will not realize
some or all deferred tax assets. As the achievement of required future taxable income is uncertain, the Company
recorded a valuation allowance equal to the deferred tax asset at December 31, 2017 and 2016. At December 31, 2016
the Company had federal and state net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $4,059,000. The federal and
state tax loss carry-forwards will begin to expire in 2032, unless previously utilized.

Pursuant to Internal Revenue Code Section 382, use of the Company’s net operating loss carry-forwards may be
limited if a cumulative change in ownership of more than 50% occurs within a three-year period. Management
believes that such an ownership change had occurred but has not yet performed a study of the limitations on the net
operating losses.
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REVEN HOUSING REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company subleased office space on a month-to-month basis from Reven Capital, LLC, which is wholly-owned
by Chad M. Carpenter, a shareholder of the Company and its Chief Executive Officer, through January 31, 2016. This
arrangement was terminated upon the Company relocating its office space and signing a new lease agreement with an
unrelated party. Rental payments under this sub-lease totaled $3,000 for the year ended December 31, 2016. Reven
Capital, LLC currently subleases office space from the Company on a month to month basis for a monthly rental of
$500. For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company received income from Reven Capital of $6,000
and $5,500, respectively.

NOTE 9. RENTAL INCOME

The Company rents single family homes to individuals under non-cancelable lease agreements generally with a term
of one year. Future minimum rental revenues under existing leases on properties are expected to be as follows for the
years ending December 31:

2018 $ 3,485,837
2019 342,876
2020 23,140

$ 3,851,853

NOTE 10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Legal and Regulatory
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The Company is subject to potential liability under laws and government regulations and various claims and legal
actions arising in the ordinary course of the Company’s business. Liabilities are established for legal claims when
payments associated with the claims become probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated. The actual costs of
resolving legal claims may be substantially higher or lower than the amounts established for those claims. Based on
information currently available, management is not aware of any legal or regulatory claims that would have a material
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and, therefore, no accrual has been recorded as of the years
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Operating Lease

On December 21, 2015, the Company entered into a new office lease agreement. The lease term is 64 months and
commenced on February 1, 2016 when the Company relocated to the new space. In addition to monthly rent and
utility payments, the Company will also pay its proportionate share of all common area maintenance and taxes above
certain 2016 base costs. The lease is subject to annual rent payment escalation clauses. During the year ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company recorded $65,728 and $57,600, respectively, for rental expenses relating
to this lease, which is included in general and administration expenses on the accompanying consolidated statement of
operations.

A schedule of future minimum lease payments under the operating lease for the following years is as follows:

2018 81,279
2019 83,717
2020 86,229
2021 36,881

$ 288,106

F-15
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REVEN HOUSING REIT, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 11. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Note Payable and Single-family Investment Acquisitions

On February 16, 2018, Reven Housing Alabama, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, received
additional loan proceeds of $2,736,630 and amended its promissory note to a total principal amount of $6,530,550 to a
bank, secured by deeds of trust encumbering certain of the Company’s homes located in Birmingham, AL. The entire
balance of principal and accrued interest is due and payable January 2023. The note provides for monthly principal
and interest payments amortized over 20 years at a fixed rate of 4.25% per annum.

The proceeds from this note were used to purchase a portfolio of 27 single-family homes, located in the Birmingham,
Alabama metropolitan area for approximately $1,659,000 not including closing and acquisition costs on February 16,
2018.

F-16
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Item 9.Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a)         Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures .

Disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) are controls
and other procedures that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information that we are required to
disclose in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial
officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this annual report. Based
on this evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of December 31, 2017.

(b)         Management’s report on internal controls over financial reporting.

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting,
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of our financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Under the supervision of and with the
participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, management conducted an assessment of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017 based on the framework
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (2013 Framework). Management’s assessment included evaluation of elements such as the
design and operating effectiveness of key financial reporting controls, process documentation, and our overall control
environment.
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Based on this assessment, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2017.

This annual report does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding internal
control over financial reporting.  Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered public
accounting firm pursuant to the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit us to provide only
management’s report in this annual report.

(c)         Changes in internal control over financial reporting.

There were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 15a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2017 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III

The information required by Part III is omitted from this report because we will file a definitive proxy statement
within 120 days after the end of our 2017 fiscal year pursuant to Regulation 14A for our 2018 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, or the 2018 Proxy Statement, and the information to be included in the 2018 Proxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 10.Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item will be contained in the 2018 Proxy Statement and is hereby incorporated by
reference.

Item 11.Executive Compensation

The information required by this item will be contained in the 2018 Proxy Statement and is hereby incorporated by
reference.

Item 12.Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item will be contained in the 2018 Proxy Statement and is hereby incorporated by
reference.

Item 13.Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item will be contained in the 2018 Proxy Statement and is hereby incorporated by
reference. 

Item 14.Principal Accountant Fees and Services
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The information required by this item will be contained in the 2018 Proxy Statement and is hereby incorporated by
reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)       Financial statements

Reference is made to the Index and Financial Statements under Item 8 in Part II hereof where these documents are
listed.

(b)       Financial statement schedules

Financial statement schedules are either not required or the required information is included in the consolidated
financial statements or notes thereto filed under Item 8 in Part II hereof.

(c)       Exhibits

The exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K are set forth below. The exhibit index indicates each management
contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit.

Number Exhibit Description Method of Filing

2.1 Articles of Conversion of Reven Housing
REIT, Inc.  

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-11 filed with the SEC on May 27,
2014.

3.1 Articles of Incorporation of Reven Housing
REIT, Inc.  

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-11 filed with the SEC on May 27,
2014.

3.2 Bylaws of Reven Housing REIT, Inc.
Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-11 filed with the SEC on May 27,
2014.
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3.3 Articles of Amendment effective November 5,
2014 (Reverse Stock Split)

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 10,
2014.

3.4 Articles of Amendment effective November 5,
2014 (Decrease of Authorized Common)

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 10,
2014.

4.1 Form of Warrant issued on October 18, 2012
Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 24,
2012.

4.2 Form of Warrant issued on January 3, 2013 Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 8, 2013.

10.1* Amended and Restated 2012 Incentive
Compensation Plan

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Definitive
Information Statement on Schedule 14C filed with the SEC
on November 15, 2013.

10.2*
Employment Agreement between Reven
Housing REIT, Inc. and Chad M. Carpenter
dated March 4, 2013

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 5, 2013.
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10.3* Employment Agreement between Reven Housing REIT, Inc. and Thad
Meyer dated April 17, 2014

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
April 22, 2014.

10.4
Voting Agreement by and among Reven Housing REIT, Inc., Chad M.
Carpenter and the purchasers identified on the signature pages thereto,
dated as of September 27, 2013

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
October 3, 2013.

10.5 Form of Indemnification Agreement between Reven Housing REIT, Inc.
and each of its officers and directors

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
May 19, 2014.

10.6
Promissory Note, dated as of June 12, 2014, by Reven Housing Texas,
LLC for the benefit of Silvergate Bank, for the principal amount of
$7,570,000

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
June 18, 2014.

10.7

Deeds of Trust, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement and
Fixture Filing, dated as of June 12, 2014, by Reven Housing Texas, LLC
for the benefit of Silvergate Bank (recorded with Brazoria, Chambers,
Fort Bend, Galveston and Harris Counties, Texas)

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
June 18, 2014.

10.8 Holdback Agreement, dated June 12, 2014, by and between Reven
Housing Texas, LLC and Silvergate Bank

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
June 18, 2014.

10.9 Unsecured Environmental Indemnity Agreement, dated as of June 12,
2014, by Reven Housing Texas, LLC for the benefit of Silvergate Bank

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
June 18, 2014.

10.10
Subordination of Management Agreement, dated as of June 12, 2014, by
and between Reven Housing Texas, LLC, Silvergate Bank and Red Door
Housing, LLC, as property manager

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
June 18, 2014.

10.11
Assignment and Assumption of Single Family Homes Real Estate
Purchase and Sale Agreement dated March 13, 2015 by and between
Reven Housing Florida, LLC and Reven Housing Florida 2, LLC  

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
March 16, 2015.

10.12* Restricted Stock Agreement dated October 16, 2014 between Chad M.
Carpenter and Reven Housing REIT, Inc. 

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Annual Report on
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Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
March 31, 2015.

10.13* Restricted Stock Agreement dated October 16, 2014 between Thad L.
Meyer and Reven Housing REIT, Inc. 

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
March 31, 2015.

10.14
Promissory Note, dated as of November 17, 2014, by Reven Housing
Tennessee, LLC for the benefit of Silvergate Bank, for the principal
amount of $3,952,140.00

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
March 31, 2015.

10.15

Deeds of Trust, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement and
Fixture Filing, dated as of November 17, 2014, by Reven Housing
Tennessee, LLC for the benefit of Silvergate Bank (recorded with
Brazoria, Chambers, Fort Bend, Galveston and Harris Counties, Texas)

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
March 31, 2015.
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10.16
Unsecured Environmental Indemnity, dated November 17, 2014,
by and between Reven Housing Tennessee, LLC and Silvergate
Bank

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the SEC on March 31, 2015.

10.17

Subordination of Management Agreement, dated as of November
17, 2014, by and between Reven Housing Tennessee, LLC,
Silvergate Bank and Marathon Management, LLC, as property
manager

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the SEC on March 31, 2015.

10.18
Promissory Note, dated as of March 10, 2015, by Reven Housing
Florida, LLC for the benefit of Silvergate Bank, for the principal
amount of $ 3,526,985.00

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the SEC on March 31, 2015.

10.19
Deeds of Trust, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security
Agreement and Fixture Filing, dated as of March 10, 2015, by
Reven Housing Florida, LLC for the benefit of Silvergate Bank

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the SEC on March 31, 2015.

10.20 Unsecured Environmental Indemnity, dated March 10, 2015, by
and between Reven Housing Florida, LLC and Silvergate Bank

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the SEC on March 31, 2015.

10.21

Subordination of Management Agreement, dated as of March 10,
2015, by and between Reven Housing Florida, LLC, Silvergate
Bank and Suncoast Property Management, LLC, as property
manager

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the SEC on March 31, 2015.

10.22
Contribution Agreement dated June 1, 2015 among Reven
Housing REIT, Inc., Reven Housing GP, LLC and Reven
Housing REIT OP, L.P.

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on June 4, 2015.

10.23
Promissory Note, dated as of October 14, 2015, by Reven
Housing Florida 2, LLC for the benefit of Silvergate Bank, for the
principal amount of $5,015,060

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed with the SEC on November 12, 2015.

10.24
Mortgages, Assignments of Leases and Rents, Security
Agreements and Fixture Filings dated October 9, 2015, by Reven
Housing 2 Florida, LLC for the benefit of Silvergate Bank

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed with the SEC on November 12, 2015.

10.25
Unsecured Environmental Indemnity Agreement, dated
October 9, 2015, by Reven Housing 2 Florida, LLC for the
benefit of Silvergate Bank

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed with the SEC on November 12, 2015.

10.26
Subordination of Management Agreement dated October 9, 2015
among Reven Housing 2 Florida, LLC for the benefit of
Silvergate Bank and Suncoast Property Management, LLC

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed with the SEC on November 12, 2015.
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Guaranty dated October 9, 2015 by Reven Housing REIT, Inc. for
the benefit of Silvergate Bank

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed with the SEC on November 12, 2015.

10.28 Lease Agreement dated December 21, 2015 between Reven
Housing REIT, Inc. and United Hansel, Inc.

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on December 22, 2015.

10.29
Amendment No. 1 dated February 1, 2016 to Employment
Agreement between Reven Housing REIT, Inc. and Chad M.
Carpenter dated March 4, 2013

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on February 2, 2016.

10.30
Amendment No. 1 dated February 1, 2016 to Employment
Agreement between Reven Housing REIT, Inc. and Thad Meyer
dated April 17, 2014

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on February 2, 2016.
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10.31 Single Family Homes Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement
(Houston 100) dated September 27, 2016

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on September 28,
2016

10.32 Single Family Homes Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement
(Atlanta 50) dated December 7, 2016

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on December 12,
2016

10.33 Single Family Homes Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement
(Birmingham 72) dated December 9, 2016

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on December 13,
2016

10.34
Promissory Note Secured by Deeds of Trust dated January 31, 2017
between Registrant  and Lubbock National Bank, a Texas
corporation

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-11 filed with the SEC on May 5,
2017

10.35 Single Family Homes Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement
(Memphis 27) dated February 16, 2017

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on February 21, 2017

10.36
Amendment dated February 17, 2017 to Single Family Homes Real
Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement (Atlanta 50) dated December 7,
2016

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on February 22, 2017

10.37
Amendment dated February 17, 2017 to Single Family Homes Real
Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement (Birmingham 72) dated
December 9, 2016

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on February 22, 2017

10.38
Second Amendment dated March 1, 2017 to Single Family Homes
Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement (Birmingham 72) dated
December 9, 2016

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form
8-K/A filed with the SEC on filed on
March 3, 2017

10.39
Third Amendment dated March 31, 2017 to Single Family Homes
Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement (Birmingham 72) dated
December 9, 2016.

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on April 4, 2017

10.40 Loan Modification Agreement dated March 21, 2017 between Reven
Housing Tennessee, LLC and Silvergate Bank

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-11 filed with the SEC on May 5,
2017

10.41
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Loan Modification Agreement dated April 4, 2017 between Reven
Housing Texas, LLC and Silvergate Bank

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-11 filed with the SEC on May 5,
2017

10.42 Loan Modification Agreement dated March 21, 2017 between Reven
Housing Florida, LLC and Silvergate Bank

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-11 filed with the SEC on May 5,
2017

10.43 Loan Modification Agreement dated March 21, 2017 between Reven
Housing Florida 2, LLC and Silvergate Bank

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-11 filed with the SEC on May 5,
2017

10.44

Single Family Homes Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement
(Birmingham 50) dated September 6, 2017.  Single Family Homes
Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement (Birmingham 50) dated
September 6, 2017.

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on September 7, 2017

10.45 Amendment to Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement
(Birmingham 50) dated September 27, 2017.

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on September 28,
2017

10.46 Single Family Homes Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement
(Birmingham 40) dated October 12, 2017.

Incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on October 13, 2017
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10.47 Second Amendment to Real Estate Purchase and Sale
Agreement (Birmingham 50) dated October 31, 2017.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on November 3, 2017

10.48
Promissory Note Secured by Deeds of Trust dated July
28, 2017 between Registrant and Silvergate Bank, a
California corporation

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on November 9, 2017

10.49
Promissory Note Secured by Deeds of Trust dated
August 21, 2017 between Registrant and Silvergate
Bank, a California corporation

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on November 9, 2017

10.50 Single Family Homes Real Estate Purchase and Sale
Agreement (Birmingham 50) dated September 6, 2017

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on September 7, 2017

10.51 Amendment to Real Estate Purchase and Sale
Agreement (Birmingham 50) dated September 27, 2017.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on November 9, 2017

10.52 Amendment to Real Estate Purchase and Sale
Agreement (Birmingham 50) dated December 14, 2017.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on December 18, 2017

10.53 Amendment to Real Estate Purchase and Sale
Agreement (Birmingham 40) dated December 14, 2017.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on December 18, 2017

10.54 Loan Agreement dated  December 29, 2017 between
Reven Housing Alabama, LLC (and SouthPoint Bank, Electronically filed herewith

10.55
Amendment dated January 31, 2018 to Single Family
Homes Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement dated
October 12, 2017.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on February 2, 2018

10.56
Amendment to Loan Documents dated February 15,
2018 between Reven Housing Alabama, LLC and
SouthPoint Bank.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on February 20, 2018

21.1 List of Subsidiaries of Reven Housing REIT, Inc.
Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-11 filed with
the SEC on June 11, 2015.

23.1 Consent of Squar, Milner, LLP Filed electronically herewith.

31.1 Certification under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002 Filed electronically herewith.
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1487782/000114420418005400/tv484791_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1487782/000114420418005400/tv484791_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1487782/000114420418005400/tv484791_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1487782/000114420418005400/tv484791_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1487782/000114420418005400/tv484791_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1487782/000114420418009785/tv486362_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1487782/000114420418009785/tv486362_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1487782/000114420418009785/tv486362_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1487782/000114420418009785/tv486362_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1487782/000114420418009785/tv486362_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1487782/000114420418009785/tv486362_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1487782/000114420418009785/tv486362_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1487782/000114420415036797/v411590_ex21-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1487782/000114420415036797/v411590_ex21-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1487782/000114420415036797/v411590_ex21-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1487782/000114420415036797/v411590_ex21-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1487782/000114420415036797/v411590_ex21-1.htm


31.2 Certification under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002 Filed electronically herewith.

32.1 Certifications Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 Filed electronically herewith.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document Filed electronically herewith.

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document Filed electronically herewith.

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document Filed electronically herewith.

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document Filed electronically herewith.

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document Filed electronically herewith.

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document Filed electronically herewith.

* Indicates management compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this annual report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

REVEN HOUSING REIT,
INC.

Date: March 29, 2018 By:  /s/ Chad M. Carpenter
Chad M. Carpenter,
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Chad M. Carpenter President, Chief Executive Officer March 29, 2018
Chad M. Carpenter and Chairman of the Board

(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Thad L. Meyer Chief Financial Officer March 29, 2018
Thad L. Meyer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ Jon Haahr Director March 29, 2018
Jon Haahr

/s/ Xiaofan Bai Director March 29, 2018
Xiaofan Bai

/s/ Xiaohang Bai Director March 29, 2018
Xiaohang Bai

/s/ Richard P. Imperiale Director March 29, 2018
Richard P. Imperiale

/s/ Richard Xinghua Wang Director March 29, 2018
Richard Xinghua Wang

/s/ William Yifeng Huang Director March 29, 2018 
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William Yifeng Huang

/s/ Zhen Luo Director March 29, 2018
Zhen Luo
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